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Year at a glance

New strategy defined for the future, geared towards increasing

shareholder value by focusing on the most profitable segments

of our business and thereby improving returns.

Launch of oneworld™ with British Airways in an alliance of
five quality airlines, with a further three airlines soon to join

the oneworld family.

Business Efficiency Programme continues to deliver
substantial cost benefits, now running ahead of schedule

at £610 million a year.

Relaunch of our World Traveller product with significant

improvements in service for our longhaul customers.

Considerable improvements made in baggage delivery and

punctuality with the airline reaching top spot among the

major European airlines.

Completion of the move to Waterside, the award-winning

I I O I B

new British Airways corporate offices, in which our people

have settled intoc a dynamic working environment which is

geared towards the future, “ “ “ “\ “

*ESWYBI3WX
Launch of go, a new low-cost airline based at Stansted anpgmgs HOUSE 17/@ /S

and operating in this growing air travel market.
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2 British Airways

1998-99 1997-98

Group results

Turnaver (£ million) up 3.2% 8,915 8,642
Operating profit {£ million) down 12.3% 442 504
Profit before taxation (€ millign) down 61.2% 215 580
Adttributable profit for the year (£ million} down 55.2% 206 460
Capital and reserves (£ million) up 1.0% 3,355 3321
Basic 2arnings per share {pence} down 56.4% 19.5 44.7

Chairman’s statement

Group profit before tax for the year was £225 million,
£355 million below last year. Profit attributable

to shareholders was £206 million, down from last
year's £460 million. Your Board has recommended
a final dividend of 12.8 pence. When added to the
interim dividend, this will result in a total dividend
of 17.9 pence, an increase of 7.8 per cent, for the
year ended March 31, 1999,

The year in view

As uncomfortable as it undoubtedly was for
shareholders, employees and management, alike,
| believe this will prove to have been a defining
year for the company.

The disappointment of having to report a substantially
reduced profit is tempered by the fact that significant
Lord Marshali, Chairman progress has been made with our plans for Jong-term
development. Your company is now embarked on a clear
strategic path which is expected to lead, over time, to
improved financial performance,

"I believe this will prove to have been a defining
year for the company. We are now embarked on a
clear strategic path which is expected to lead, over
time, to improved financial performance.”

Although the all-out global recession, which many
experts predicted, did not materialise, the severe
economic slowdown in many major markets rook their
toll on our performance, notably by reducing demand
for premium services. In our home country, the effects
of sterling’s strength against other main currencies
continued to depress the exporting and manufacturing
industries which comprise an important part of
British Airways’ prime business travel market.
The other side of this double-edged currency sword
reduced the sterting value of our overseas revenues.
The open, competitive nature of modern air transport
means that downturn in demand, with no commensurate
reduction in capacity, invariably brings price pressures
to the market place. The year under review has been
no exception.
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1998-99 1997-98
Key financiat statistics
Operating margin (per cent) down 0.8 points 5.0 58
Net debt/total capital ratio {per cent} up 4.1 points 62.2 58.1
Operating Statistics :
Passengers carried Group {000) up 10.0% 45,049 400955
Revenue tenne kilometres Group (million) up 9.2% 16,831 15,406
Awvailable tenne kilometres Group (million) up 12.1% 25,114 22,403
Passenger load factor Mainline scheduled services {per cent) down 0.6 points 70.7 713

Prompted by continued network expansion, our total
passenger carryings increased by some 10 per cent
to more than 45 million; and group revenue rose

by more than 3 per cent. Market conditions and
exchange rates, however, forced our yields to fall
sharply. Operating performance, in terms of revenue
passenger kilometres, increased; while the seat factor
remained almost flat. Qur cargo business also faced
difficult conditions, with Falling yields.

“The purpose of our strategy is to double operating
margin over the next five years, secure a greater
return on assets and equity and create an environment
of commercial stability.”

Nevertheless, there were a number of important and
encouraging achievements. Productivity continued to
rise, with an improvement of more than 6 per cent.
Unit costs came down by more than 7 per cent, [ am
confident that the Business Efficiency Programme which
has so far delivered annual savings of £610 million,

will achieve its target of reducing yearly costs by

£1 billion in 2000.

Substantial improvement was achieved in our
maintand European subsidiary airlines, with passenger
numbers up 12 per cent, on a flying programme just
0.5 of a percentage point larger. Qur new low-cost
carrier, go, launched during the vear, carried more than
600,000 passengers.

The overall trading background and clear indications
of a growing competitive intensity in the world air
transport market, led your company to focus sharply on,
and give more impetus to, the further implementation
of its long-term business strategy. This is discussed in
more detail by the Chief Executive, but its purpose is to
improve our operating margins; to secure a greater return
on both assets and equity; and to create an environment
of commercial stability. The specific target is to double
the operating margin over the next five years.

Perhaps the most widely-publicised manifestation
of this strategy has been the new fleet development
plan, designed to equip British Airways to meet this
ambitious, but attainable objective, through flexibility

and reduced capacity, on the one hand; and focuses on
the high-yielding premium end of the market, on

the other. Furthermore, it also recognises the importance
of the high volume, non-premium customers and
encompasses substantial new investment in products,
services, infrastructure and in our people. Innovation
and enterprise are its keynote features. Evidence of
your company’s commitmenit can be seen in the high-
technology, £250 million Ascentis World Cargocentre,
opened in May by The Rt, Hon. John Prescott MP,
Deputy Prime Minister; and in the £7 million travel
sales and customer service centre developed in Greater
Manchester by our wholly-owned subsidiary, Air Miles,
which | had the pleasure of inaugurating in the same
month. They are both potent symbols of our serious
competitive intent. So, too, is the recent development
of British Airways Global Financial Services, in
conjunction with the Royal Bank of Canada, to provide
value-added services to premium customers and
strengthen relationships with them,

“The drive to secure effective presence and
reach in the global market has long been at
the top of your company's agenda.”

The global market
The drive to secure effective presence and reach in the
global market, now such an evident prerequisite for the
air transport industry, has long been at the top of your
company’s agenda. This vear, our carefully-planned
response to the global challenge emerged with the
creation of the oneworld™ alliance.

The formation of oneworld was announced
in September, 1998, as a partnership involving
British Airways, American Airlines, Canadian International
Airlines, Cathay Pacific and Qantas. Its objective is to
build a cohesive world air transport system delivering
consistent standards of service and quality throughout.
Since then, Finnair, lberia and, more recently, LanChile,
the Latin American carrier, have announced their
intention to join the consortium. More and more, airline
competition will be played out not among individual
carriers on specific routes, or network areas, but

British Airways 3
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Chairman’s statement
continued

between multi-national alliances on a global scale. Qur
stake in oneworld™ is extremely important and we can
expect 1o see the alliance expand, As it is, oneworld
provides each of its members with a collective critical
mass of more than 200 million customers a year, in
markets throughout the world.

“More and more, airline competition will be
played out between multi-national alliances
on a global scale, which makes our stake in
oneworld extremely important.”

The programme of franchise partnership continues
its valuable role of underpinning the global network
with British Airways branded regional and feeder services.

Year 2000 compliance

One of the year's major items of public debate has

been the so-called computer 'millennium bug’ and
particularly its perceived effect on airline operations.
Your company’s position has remained consistent:
British Airways will operate at the start of January 2000
and beyond, where there is consumer demand and where
it is safe to do so. As it happens, bookings for the
millennium period show a large increase compared with
the 1998-99 New Year holiday. Our own comprehensive
‘Readiness Programme’ to achieve Year 2000 compliance
is detailed elsewhere in this report. However, much of
the work was completed during the year and all systems
and procedures under our direct control will have been
checked by August 31. Over the latter part of 1999 and
into the New Year, concentration will be on transition
and business continuity management. The total cost of
achieving Year 2000 compliance is expected to come

to £70 million.

Qur people

Effective change can only be wrought by committed
people, at every level. For the progress made in
strategic development during the year, we owe a debt
of gratitude to the employees of British Airways.

Their dedication to competitive progress is, more than
anything, laying the foundation for the future success of
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your company. As our people invest in British Airways
through professional commitment, so we continue to
invest in them. Training, education and employee
welfare remain, as always, top priorities. The vital task
of renewing and enhancing your company’s long-standing
pledge to customer service excellence is being achieved
through the new "Putting People first again' programme
of training motivation and consultation.

The highlight of the year for many empioyees was
the official opening in July 1998 of the new Waterside
compiex near Heathrow, by HRH The Prince of Wales.
Now fully occupied and operational, Waterside's
advanced systems, facilities and working style combine
to provide inspiration for users and visitors alike.

“Effective change can only be wrought by committed
peopie, at every level. For the progress made
during the year, we gwe a debt af gratitude ta the
employees of British Airways. Their dedication to
competitive progress is laying the foundation for
our future success.”

As ever, | pay tribute to the British Airways executive
managernent team and to my fellow Board members,
for their support, wise counsel and deep commitment
to this company and the interests of its shareholders,
customers, employees and other stakeholders, Equally,
[ thank all of our people for their efforts, forbearance
and understanding,

Community and environment

British Airways’ extensive Community Relations
programme continues to make its impact, in terms of
care, goodwill and charitable support, around the world.
The airline has now raised £7.2 million for UNICEF

in the five years since the "Change For Good' project
was introduced. We have been proud to support some
remarkable individual empicyees in their efforts to bring
much-needed services and facilities to deprived or
distressed communities. Their personal compassion
and leadership has, for example, led to the creation

of a school for 500 children in Ghana; a large orphanage
in Bangladesh; and a children’s AIDS hospice and
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orphanage in Kenya. Qur people continue their
excellent work with special, home-grown charities such
as Dreamflight, Happy Child and the British Airways
Runners. Countless numbers of other employees help
their communities in very many smaller, but equally
selfless, ways. In the autumn of 1999, our new

British Airways Community Learning Centre will open,
This initiative will demonstrate how we use essential
skills relating to information technology, languages,
marketing and customer service. We hope it will
educate and inspire the 10,000 students we expect

to visit the Centre each year.

“Your company will come through as one
of the most efficient, most competitive
and most successful travel and transport
companies in the world.”

The international Kyoto Agreement on Climate Change
has brought the highly-charged issue of environmental
care and concern even more to the fore of government
and public consciousness. Our latest annual Environment
Report, to be published in July 1999, will re-establish
your company’s credentials for responsibility and seif-
improvement in this crucial area.

Qutlook

The adverse economic and market conditions affecting
performance are unlikely to improve significantly in
the immediate future. The situation is being met with
robust sales and marketing tactics in every market we
serve. These, coupled with customer service advances
provided both directly and through the oneworld
alfiance, will maintain our leading competitive position
in the world marketplace.

For the longer term, the strategies which are now
defining the shape, scope and potential of British Airways
in the 21st Century encourage confidence. Assuming
no new global economic catastrophe occurs, your
company will come through the current difficulties
as one of the most efficient, most competitive and
most successful travel and transport companies in the
world. As well as fulfilling its regulatory purpose, this
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Annual Report & Accounts serves as our ‘'manifesto’
for the future.

Our confident entry into the new century
and the new millennium will be symbolised by the
‘British Airways London Eye’ observation wheel, on
the south bank of the River Thames, in central London;
and by the British Airways ‘Global’ experience in the
Millennium Dome at Greenwich, East London. These
investments will help our global hub become the world's
‘Millennium City’ in 2000, with all the visitor-attraction
benefits this implies.

/

Lord Marshall
Chairman
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'Focused on the world

We are using our worldwide network and our new alliance
relationships to offer customers the best choice and flexibility
and to enable us to concentrate on the most profitable markets.

oneworld™ takes off

More people today want
to reach more places
more easily. Yet regulation
and business economics
make it impossible or
impractical for any one
airline to fly to all of

the places to which its
customers want to travel.
That is why airlines

forge alliances.

Last September saw the
{aunch with four other
like-minded airtines -

our established partners
American Airlines,
Canadian International
Airlines, and Qantas, plus
Hong Kong-based Cathay
Pacific — of a new global
airline alliance oneworld.
Iberia, Finnair and LanChile
have since agreed to join
the grouping, and talks are
advanced with a number
of other airlines.

oneworld is “the alliance
that revolves around you”,
with its emphasis firmly
on "people, not planes”.



year of Cancun, Denver,
Havana, Ljubijana,

—

A growing
world network

Milan-Malpensa, San Jo_s_e,} i

Trieste, Tobago and Vilnius.
Through oneworld, we are
able to offer Rights to more
than 680 destinations in
some 145 countries, with
connections so closely co-
ordinated and service so

British Airways itself serves+
168 destinations in 87
countries, with the addition
to our network in the past

Chief Executive’s statement

A

Rebert Ayling, Chief Executive

British Airways is a great company. We have a
great heritage. We have a great future ahead of us.

The past year has been one of tremendous progress
and change. Our people throughout the company have
worked hard to ensure that British Airways is best
placed to succeed in a vibrant world. | thank each and
every one of them.

We have embarked on the fourth major evolution
in our strategy since we emerged from the shackles of
state ownership into the freedom of the private sector
12 years ago.

In che first phase, we developed the ethos of
being a customer service company, inspiring our people
to deliver service of such world-beating quality that we
were able 1o achjeve yield premiums and improve our
margins on the strength of it for as long as we could.

in the early 1990s we had to contend with the
biggest decline to hit our industry in its entire history,
with the Guif war worsening a market already weakened
by difficult worldwide economic conditions. We responded
in the best traditions of British Airways, with marketing

consistently high that it’s

"as good as fiying with one
airline the whole way. With

“more than 3 quarter of a

- million employees around
the world ready to look
after you no matter which
oneworld airline you are
flying, you will have an
easier, more hassle-free

journey. For frequent
fiyers, oneworld opens :
up new opportunities for
earning and redeeming §
rewatds, the widest
network of airline
lounges in the world, =
and a promise of .54
preferred service
wherever you are flying.

campaigns that caught the irmagination of the world and
restructuring within the company.

The third of our strategic phases was to ensure that
we were cost competitive. Qur Business Efficiency
Programme, introduced in 1996, required the company
to take structural and sometimes painful decisions that
were vital to ensure our competitiveness for the future.

‘We have made great strides, and have now achieved
£610 million of the targeted £1 billion a year of efficiencies
in this three-year programme, We are confident of
achieving our eventual goal by the deadline we set
ourselves. | am very conscious of the strains on our
people of achieving these efficiencies. | am immensely
grateful to everyone for helping us achieve our goals
which now place us at the forefront of our industry
and provide the platform for future investment.

Now we have to come to the fourth phase in
our strategic evolution, combining customer service
excellence with value for money, with a target of doubling
our operating margin during the next five years.

“People throughour the company have worked
hard to ensure that British Airways is best placed
to succeed in a vibrant world. | thank each and
every one of them.”

We will do this by focusing the business on the most
profitable market segments, and by concentrating on four
key issues;

* Our customers — ensuring we provide them with the
highest levels of service and innovative products,
particularly at the premium end of the market

® Our people - understanding that people who feel
good about their work deliver the best

e QOur alliances — opening up the potential of a global
airline industry

® Our cost and asset efficiency, in particular
through new fleet and network strategies, with
profitability the basis on which any company
survives and prospers.

This latest evolution in our strategy refiects some
major shifts in the fast-changing marketplace in which
we operate.

British Airways 7
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“With oneworld™
British Airways is at
the centre of a world-
leading ailiance that
more than matches
any competitor.”

strengthened

By any measure,

with a flight taking off

Deregulation is spreading speedily, from Syracuse to
Sydney, from Copenhagen to Cape Town. We welcome
this. Freer markets provide greater apportunities for
the best — and we intend to maintain and grow our
reputation for being the best.

Deregulation allows us to adapt our overall schedule
to add more flights on the routes we serve where we
see a benefit, and it is this increased frequency that
is so attractive to the premium traveller, whose fares
provide higher margins, reflecting the higher value we,
in turn, provide.

Higher frequencies can, however, worsen market
conditions, by adding excess capacity and reducing
yields, particularly at the economy end of the business.
[t will only be through improvement of the mix, by
better capacity management and better distribution -
in both of which British Airways is a recognised world
feader — that we will be able to maintain our yields at
this end of our business. We shall do so by reducing
our exposure to the rock bottom end of the market,
focusing more closely on premium passengers.

"We believe we are the first airline in the world to
recognise the consequences of the changes our
industry is currently experiencing and to take the
appropriate action.”

The third key shift is the phenomenon of alliances.
Alliances increase competition and put further pressure
on margins and returns. Alliances will undoubtedly
grow, in size and importance. The economic and
consumer arguments far alliances and the closer
integration among airlines are simply unstoppable.

Against these three key shifts in the market, we
have undertaken a fundamental review of our fleet
and network strategies, as outfined on page 18 by
our Director of Strategy David Spurlock.

We believe we are the first airline in the world to
recognise the consequences of the changes our industry
is currently experiencing and to take the appropriate
action, just as we were the first airline to recognise the
implications of the last downward turn in the world
economic cycle.

Alliance partnerships

oneworld's vital statistics
are impressive. Together
the partner airlines operate
more than 1,750 aircraft,

somewhere around the
world every six seconds
on average. Last year, dgﬁgy
carried some 210 milliof},
passengers, equivalent
to 1 in 28 of the entire
world’s population. .

with Canadian International
Airlines and AmericaWest
while still working towards
approval of our proposed
alliance with American
Airlines. tn February we
reached conditional
agreement to take a

9 per cent stake in lberia,
the Spanish flag carrier.

We continue to strengthen
our ties with Australias
Qantas and to expand
code-sharing arrangements

Qur new fleet strategy enabies us to contain capacity
growth in the year ahead to just 0.6 per cent, in terms
of available seat kilometres, while many of our key
competitors are exposed to double digit expansion as
the world econemy is still in the throes of a slowdown.

The improved operating results that will flow from
our new fleet and network strategies will enable us to
build on our fundamental strengths still further, in
particular our focus on superior customer service,

We will continue to invest and innovate to ensure
that our premium brands set the industry standard, and
that our non-premium products at least match the best
in the market.

As Martin George, our Director of Marketing,
explains on page 10, we are currently midway through
our most ambitious programme of service
improvements ever, with the embodiment of our new
World Traveller longhaul economy brand well advanced,
and plans for breathtaking improvements to Club World
in the wings, along with substantial enhancements to
Club Europe, First and Concorde.

Innovation is not limited to the services we offer
to our passengers when they are flying with us. It also
has a key role to play in our distribution processes.

“We are currently midway through our most
ambitious programme of service improvements
ever. ‘We will continue to invest and inhovate to
set new industry standards in customer service.”

We are making great strides in our use of the Internet
and other new technology to offer consumers more
choice in how they book their journeys. Qur home
pages on the Internet have won many awards, including
Best Afrline Website from the American Marketing
Association, and we continue to improve them., We now
offer on-line selling in some 35 languages across more
than 80 countries and the site receives more than
2.5 million visits per month.

We are expanding the British Airways brand
into new markets, with the launch of a range of
financial services, our involvement in EuroStar,
and at the Millennium Dome and the British Airways




We have also agreed .
’. code-share alliances

with LOT Polish Airfing
More franchi - and Hungary's Malev.’;
and pafrr:n::lsses Quy netwo!'k' cfffm' -

\ airlines, flying in the

Outside oneworld, we * colours of British Airways,
have linked frequent flyer  has grown during the year
schemes and started code-  to ten with the addition
sharing with Japan Airlines  of Holland's BASE. As
in the Far East and with we move ahead, we plan
Ernirates in the Gulf. more partnerships, always

London Eye millennium wheel, thereby ensuring centre
stage for our great British company in our country’s
celebrations to mark the beginning of the 21st Century.
And yes, our aircraft will be flying over the millenniun,
wherever there is consumer demand and wherever we
judge it is safe to do so. We are setting aside £70
million to ensure that our computer systems continue
to function effectively into the new century, as you will
read elsewhere in this report.
The success of our new services and products,
and indeed the overall success of our business,
depends almost entirely on our people. British Airways
is blessed with the best employees in the airline
industry. | never cease to be proud and delighted at the
reports | receive of our people going that extra mile to
deliver outstanding service or performance.

“We fly into the 2 tst Century confident of

our future, confident that British Airways can
achieve its overall goal of being the undisputed
leader in world travel.”

Achieving some of the changes required under our
third strategic evolution was understandably unsettling
for many of our people, But this is now behind us, and
our industrial relations are now better than they have
been for many a year. We have concentrated very hard
on ensuring our people feel as good as possible about
their work, as Mervyn Walker, our Director of Human
Resources, details on page 16.

| have already mentioned the growing importance
of alliances in our industry. One of the highlights of
the year, for me, was when [ was joined in London
by my counterparts from American Airlines, Canadian
International Airlines, Cathay Pacific and Qantas,
to launch our oneworld™ alliance, about which John
Patterson, our Director of Alliances, writes on the
previous page. oneworid positions British Airways at
the centre of what has already established itself as the
world's leading airline alliance, in terms of destinations
served and what we offer our customers.

Qur alliance partnerships, our new fleet and network
strategies and our focus on cur premium brands add

ensuring that these links
contribute to the success -
‘of British Airways,

t
LY
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Br . JAL:

new dimensions to our established strengths — our
people, our Londen base, the world's best international
route network and our systems.

we fly into the 21st Century confident of our future
with the best people, confident that British Airways can
achieve its overall goal of being the undisputed leader
in world travel — with a focused strategy to ensure we
continue to create a company pre-eminent in customer
service and profitability.

{MW\«

Robert Ayling
Chief Executive
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Focused on our customers

Customers remain at the heart of everythmg we do and
exceeding our customers’ expectatlons isd

lmportance to our future

World Traveller
relaunched

In November, 1998, we
unveiled our new World 4
Traveller, our product for the 3
longhaul economy passenger
and our biggest brand,

The ten million people who
fly in this cabin every year,
paying us £2 billion to do
50, are now offered an
exciting new service to
match the best economy
product in the skies,

The new seats are probably
the most comfortable in
any longhau! economy
cabin in the world, with
adjustable headrests,
footrests and one inch
more knee room. Fach is
fitted with a personal 6.3
inch liquid crystal video
screen, offering 12 video
channels and 12 audio
channels and an in-flight
information channel, all
running on the most
reliable system available,

We already offered the

best in-flight entertainment
of any airline worldwide,
winning the airline industry
“Oscar” at the World Aidine
Entertainment Association's
annual awards in Qctober.



This wilt be a complete
overhaul of our longhaut
business brand. The brief
is simple: To redefine

P—

Mew Club World
in the wings

“ We are reviewing every
element of the service to
ensure Club World is seen
to represent the very best

Our focus now is firmly
on Our premium cabins.
In autumn 1999 we will be
relaunching Club World.

Operating and financial review

SUMMARY

Group profit before tax for the year was £225 million,
down from £580 million last year. Operating profit was
£442 million, down from £504 million last year.

OPERATING REVIEW

Business performance

Operating profit -~ down £62 million on turnover

3.2 per cent higher - was adversely affected by a lower
mix of premium passengers and industry-wide price
discounting, the latter caused primarily by industry
capacity growth exceeding growth in global demand,
At 5 per cent, operating margin was down 0.8 points.

The underlying strength of the pusiness has been
reflected in a number of areas. Labour relations and
punctuality improved substantially. Unit costs fell 7.3
per cent, benefiting from continued good progress on
the Business Efficiency Programme (BEP). Productivity
improved 6.3 per cent.

Looking forward, the groundwork for future
improvements in margins was laid with the implementation
of a revised fleet and network strategy which will
concentrate future growth, product development, and
custommer service improvemernts on the most profitable
sectors of the market. Exposure to low margin connecting
traffic will be reduced, simplifying operations, reducing
capital requirements and easing pressure on capacity
constraints in London. Qverall mainline capacity will
not grow during the next five years.

In the short term actions focus on peopie and products,
All British Airways employees will go through training
to strengthen customer service. Plans to relaunch the
airline’s premium products - including a new “flying
bed" for business passengers — have been pulled ahead.
These measures should improve the mix of premium
passengers, margins and sales.

Turnover

Group turnover for the 12 months was up 3.2 per cent -
at £8,915 million - on a flying programme 12.1 per cent
larger in available tonne kilometres {ATKs). Mainline
passenger seat factor was down slightly at 70.7 per
cent. Yields {pence per revenue passenger kilometre —

premium travel to astound.

product and vatue for
money in the marketplace.
Club Europe will also

be upgraded from this
autumn. With the focus of
making the most of our
business passengers’ time,
as well as stylish new

interiors, improved service
and contempary catering. =§

RPK) were down 7.4 per cent. This was caused by
reduced demand in the premium passenger market and
the consequent dilution of our passenger mix, heavy
competitar discounting in the economy passenger
market and the continued strength of sterling.

In Cargo, volumes were up compared with last year
but yields were down. Overall sales fell 5.5 per cent.

Expenditure

For the 12 moenth period, unit costs (net operating
expenditure per ATK) were 7.3 per cent [ower than a
year ago, driven down by BEP cost efficiency actions
as well as higher volumes, lower fuel prices, exchange
rate benefits and negotiated supplier price reductions.

Unit cost reductions were achieved despite substantial
investments in customer services and products (which
have improved punctuality and baggage performance),
and one-off spending in preparation for Year 2000,
Costs in total rose 4.1 per cent.

The average number of employees in the group rose
by 5.1 per cent to 63,779. In terms of average manpower
equivalent (MPE), the increase was 5.4 per cent to
64,051. Productivity, as measured in terms of group
ATHKs per MPE, was up by 6.3 per cent. Employee costs
increased by 6.6 per cent to £2,356 million, refiecting
an increase in staff numbers, the impact of pay settlements
and restructuring costs, partially offset by BEP
efficiency actions, no profit share payout and exchange
rate benefits.

Dapreciation costs increased by 12.3 per cent to
£619 million reflecting the increase in fleet size, whilst
aircraft operating lease costs increased 18,1 per cent
to £150 million, principally as a result of Deutsche BA
switching to operating leased aircraft, Brymon Airways
introducing seven new aircraft and the addition of eight
Boeing 737-300s at go. Fuel and oil costs decreased by
10.8 per cent, or £85 million, due to average fuel price
reductions of 24.8 per cent, partially offset by a higher
volume of flying.

Engineering and other aircraft costs increased by
4.9 per cent to £644 million principally as a result of
higher subcontract maintenance costs, increased overhaul
activity and costs of the new fleet at go.

Landing fees and en route charges rose by £33 million
or 4.7 per cent with increased landings and overflying
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Martin George,
Director of Marketing

12 British Airways

“We are completely committed to customer
service and innovation. We will continue
to invest in providing our customers with
ground-breaking products and services into
the future, whenever and wherever it makes
good commercial sense.”

Operating and financial review
continued

charges partiaily offset by negotiated reductions on specific
routes. Handling charges, catering and other operating
costs increased by 8.4 per cent, in line with volumes,

Selling and marketing costs increased marginally by
1.4 per cent or £17 million. Higher passenger numbers,
costs associated with the launch of go, the launch of
oneworld™ and the relaunch of Air Liberté were
broadly offset by exchange rate benefits, commission
savings and other cost efficiencies.

Accommodation, ground equipment and currency
differences rose by only 0.7 per cent, or £5 million, Costs
associated with Year 2000 were largely offset by exchange
rate benefits on the retranslation of assets held in foreign
currencies and gains on settlement of transactions.

Geographical analysis

Capacity grew in all regions except the Far East and
India. Volumes largely kept pace, but tough economic
conditions and increased competition resulted in greater
passenger growth in Traveller cabins than premium
cabins, with a consequentiat decline in average vields.
Lower fuel prices and benefits from BEP helped reduce
unit costs in all regions.

In the Far East, capacity was reduced by 14 per cent
in response to economic problems, with profits falling
by £78 million. in contrast, the Americas routes improved
by £56 million - particularly to the eastern LISA.

The return of flights to Nigeria helped Africa to achieve
strong growth, but vield reductions across India, the Middle
East and Africa meant profits were flat year-on-year.

The pattern of growth and lower yields was
repeated in the LIK and Europe. Domestic routes
particularty suffered from the UK economic slowdown
and increased cornpetition, although these were
partially offset by strong cost efficiencies. The results
also reflect the set-up costs of new routes, the start
up losses of go, and reduced losses at Air Liberté
and Deutsche BA.

Business efficiency programme

The Business Efficiency Programme was announced
three years ago with a target to identify and deliver

£1 billion of annual efficiency savings by March 2000.
The programme is well on track, delivering annual

We have been
concentrating on the
basics of our service
delivery — baggage

and punciuality. Qur
performance is amongst

our competitors on
80 per cent of the
routes we serve,

We are the most
punctual of Europe's
leading airlines,

the best in the business. °

Our timekeeping
performance at
Heathrow now beats

efficiencies of £610 million in this year's results,

£110 million ahead of original plans.

Initiatives put in place prior to March 1998 have
contributed significantly towards this year's result.
These inciude:

# Changes to working practices and pay rates in the
Heathrow and Gatwick operations, British Airways
World Cargo and British Airways Regional.

= New agreements with cabin crew,

® Successful outsourcing of a number of activities
including in-flight catering and the management
and maintenance of ground vehicles at Heathrow
and Gatwick.

® Business restructuring in fleet engineering
operations, including the sale of specialist units
and the outsourcing of |T.

# Restructured travel agents’ commission and incentive
reward systems in the UK, USA, Canada and Africa.

» Centrafisation of accounting operations in the UK.

In addition to the launch of a new fleet strategy and the
negotiation of keenly priced new aircraft orders with Boeing
and Airbus, achievements during the past year include:
# Significant changes to the collective agreements
negotiated with British Airlines Pilots Association
(BALPA) and a redesigned training programme
for flight crew.
# Renegotiations of overseas hangling agreements
and joint purchasing projects with Qantas.
® Replacement of our customer databases, driving
cost savings and customer service improvements.
® Establishment of a financial services business
to expand sales of travel insurance, credit and
charge cards.
® Commissioning of our new World Cargocentre.,

Every part of the company continues to play its part
in maintaining the success of these initiatives, which
along with good improvements in asset utilisation and
the subsidiaries’ performance will assure achievement
of the £1 hilfion annual efficiengy savings.

British Airways and the millennium
British Airways will continue flying throughout the
millennium period, where there is consumer demand




during their flight, we are
extending dining arrange-
ments in the airport lounge
before they board. Once
on the aircraft, they can
take advantage of our
'Goodnight’ service, which
is designed to help them
get as much rest as they
can. At Heathrow, we have
expanded our Arrivals
Lounge and extended

P

Smoother service
on the ground

For Club World passengers
flying overnight from the
East Coast of the USA

to the UK, who, above all
else, are looking to get as
much sleep as possible

and, as ever, where it is safe. British Airways has a
strong desire to serve those customers who wish to fly.

The millennium period will pose several challenges.
Apart from the ‘millennium bug’ itself, the behaviour
of consumers will be difficult to predict. There will
be additional public holidays and the world's biggest
celebration will be taking place. Abnormal travel
patterns are likely and a reduced service will operate
on December 31, 1999, and January 1, 2000.

As far as the ‘millennium bug' is concerned, the
Readiness Programme is well advanced. Most work
was completed in 1998 and everything under the
airlines’ direct control is expected to be ready by
August 31, 1999, During the last quarter of 1999 and
through into 2000, the focus will switch to transition
and continuity management.

Year 2000 readiness status
The Year 2000 programme was established in 1995
and cavers all at-risk areas, including the airline's own
computer systems, embedded systems in facilities and
equipment, and systems used by service partners and
suppliers. The company is working to the British Standards
Institute (BSH) standard, which it helped to develop.
The programme encompasses five distinct phases:
Inventory — of at risk items; Assessment — of items
for risk and readiness; Fix — to solve problems; Test —
1o vatidate success; and Continuity Management —
to mitigate the residual risk of Year 2000 failures.
The cycle is underpinned by quality assurance review
and continual customer and staff awareness activities.

IT systems

As at March 31, 1999, the airfine had completed the
testing phase for 94 per cent of its [T systems. These
systems include core functions such as passenger
reservations, ticketing, check-in, flight planning and
load control, crew rostering, engineering and baggage
and cargo processing.

Many systems process Year 2000 dates well before
January 1, 2000. Approximately a third of all IT systems
(including computer reservations systems) have already
handled Year 2000 dates successfully.

Using dedicated testing environments and applying
rigorous test standards, the airline expects to complete

the range of services it
provides, increasing the
number of showers available,
improving the breakfast
bar, and introducing a
mini-gym and health spa,
and in New York we have
opened a new Concorde
Room, designed by
Terence Conran, as part
of the rebuilding of our
JFK Terminal.

testing by August 31, 1998, To ensure no new risks
are introduced, a freeze on |T developments will be
imposed during the period September 1, 1999, to
January 31, 2000.

Facifities and equipment

Equipment testing is expected to be completed by
June 30, 1999, and the services of spacialist facilities
and engineering consultants have been secured to
support the effort. British Airways has been working
closely together with key partners, including Boeing
and Airbus. Wark has alsa been undertaken on flight
simulators and currently a series of complex checks
are being run under various operating conditions to
ensure readiness.

Service partners and suppliers
The airline is reliant upon service partners and third
party service providers. Consequently, contact
has been made with them to review their Year 2000
programmes and establish their state of readiness.

British Airways will continue to work with many
suppliers up to, through and beyond the key rollover
dates. To the extent it is practicai, alternatives will be
sought for third party service providers who have not
satisfied the criteria of readiness by June 30, 1999,

Mo airline can guarantee the Year 2000 readiness
of external organisations. All airlines, including
British Airways, are dependent on air traffic control,
aviation and airport authorities, telecommunications,
vital utilities and various other suppliers, So, in addition
to the company's own Year 2000 suppliers’ programme,
the airline is working closely with the International
Air Transport Association (JATA) and other organisations,
governments and their agencies to ensure readiness
for the new millennium.

While satisfactory progress is being made, it is
too early to assess the eventual outcome of this work
and any impact it may have on the planned worldwide
schedule. The schedule will be kept under review as
the year progresses and customers will be informed
of any changes. Safety is of paramount importance.
British Airways will not operate any service if it is
beliaved to be unsafe to do so.
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Focused on our people

Our people are the key to our success. We are mvestmg
- ,__m providing the best possrble working envuronments to

~inspire our people all over the world.

State-of-the-art
workplaces

We have invested in
motivating all of our people
to support the company’s
new vision and to provide
our customers with the
highest possible levels of
service and value.

The most visible example
of this is in the physical
environments in which
many of our employees i
work, with the opening of
our new corporate offices
at Waterside and our new
World Cargocentre at
Heathrow.

Waterside, our state-of-the-
art corporate business park,
has been described as one
of the most futuristic office
environments in Europe
this decade.

The Prince of Wales tried
out the innovative ways of
working, ke “hot desking”
and “cyber surfing”, that
have become part of everyday
life for the 3,000 people
now based there when he
officially opened the building
last fuly. Since ther,
Waterside has won a large
number of architectural and
construction awards.




Purting People first again,
launched in spring 1999
Every employee in the
company will be invited

to participate in this series
. _of one-day activities
Reinforcing the “customer * during the programme’s
first” message and our new  three-year run.

strategic vision throughout With more than seven in
the company is our new ten of our empioyees owning
corparate programme shares in British Airways,

—_—

Putting People
first again

Operating and financial review
continued

Business continuity management

British Airways has been working to reduce the residual
risks since June 1998, Possible Year 2000 scenarios
have been identified across the business and evaluation
of each scenario has been completed. Business
Continuity Plans will be developed for all of the risks
identified, including contingency plans. Some of the
plans are being developed with business partners,
including a major programme with BAA plc.

Costs of the Year 2000 programme
In the Report & Accounts 1997-98 the company
estimated the likely total cost of the Year 2000
programime to be £100 million. This took into account
amounts already spent and included some spend
incorporated into existing or planned investment
in next generation systems and programmes.

The current forecast for known programme
expenditure is £70 million of which costs of £40 million
have been incurred up to March 31, 1999,

Economic and Monetary Union

As 3 global airline, with more than 40 per cent of our
passengers travelling to or from Continental Europe,
the introduction of the euro on January 1, 1999, was
important to British Airways, even though the UK
has chosen not to join the single currency at present.

British Airways was one of the first companies to be
able to trade in the euro, having successfully adapted
processes and systems for January 1, 1999, Customers
buying tickets in the Eurczone are offered the choice of
fare quotation and payment in either local currency or
euro, Customer contact staff have been trained to deal
with the euro for fare quotations, ticketing and in-flight
sales. The airline has been able to make payments to
suppliers in euro or local currency since the launch
date. British Airways World Cargo is also offering
customers in the Eurozone the choice of using either
local currency or euro.

Brigish Airways will continue to manage and co-ordinate
euro activities across the group up to the withdrawal
of local currencies in 2002. In addition, conversion
planning and preparations required should the UK
decide to join the single currency are underway.

mainly through our popular
employee share schemes,
we continue to encourage
our own people to

identify with the interests
of our shareholders,

Alliance benefits

1998-99 has been a significant year for aliiance
developments. Existing refationships have been deepened,
new bilateral alliances have been formed and in February
1999 a new multi-areral alliance, oneworld™, was launched,

The world's largest airline alliance grouping,
oneworld initially includes British Airways, American
Airlines, Canadian International Airlines, Cathay Pacific
and Qantas. In September 1999, Finnair and lberia will
also join, LanChile is to join as the eighth member in
2000. A substantial package of customer benefits has
been introduced, including reciprocal reward and
recognition programmes, common lounge access, global
fares etc. Co-operation across the alltance is now
underway in a number of areas that will benefit both
customers and airline effectiveness.

Although bilateral discussions with American Airlines
over intended co-operation acrass the Atlantic continue
and are linked to UK/US “open skies” discussions,
the relationship has continued to develop with the
introduction of onewarld.

The alliance with Qantas enters its sixth year. The
joint service agreement between Europe and Australia
continues to bring benefits; ‘on the ground’ co-operation
has been expanded and agreement has been reached o
integrate more longhaul revenue management, scheduling,
network management, product development and sales.

The London/Toronto benefit share agreement with
Canadian [nternational Airlines has been in operation
for 15 months and work is underway o expand
co-operation in terms of both routes and functions.

New bilateral arrangements have been implemented
with LOT Polish Airlines, Finnair and Emtrates.

The intention to acquire 9 per cent of Iberia has
been announced, subject 1o certain regulatory and
governance issues, and substantial areas of oppertuniry
for co-operation have been identified which will be
implemented progressively during 1999.

A memorandum of understanding has been signed with
JAL, and Aer Lingus has announced that British Airways
is its preferred strategic alliance partner.

Qantas
The year saw further progress and co-operation
for the British Airways/Qantas alliance, offering

e
'People
first
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Mervyn Walker,
Director of Human Resources

16 British Airways

“Peopie who feel good about
their working worid deliver
the best results. That is the
philosaphy that lies behind
British Airways’ approach
to its employees.”

Operating and financial review
continued

customers an even wider choice of travel opportunities
and services.

In addition to the two existing "kangaroo routes”
between Europe and Australia via Singapore and
Bangkok, a third route was launched in October 1998, via
Kuala Lumpur. Also in October 1998, Giantas commenced
non-stop services between Paris and Singapore. Since
MNovember 1998 passengers travelling to and from London
Gatwick, Birmingham and Manchester can connect
directly to and from Australia via Paris and Frankfurt.

A joint British Airways/Qantas state-of-the-art airport
lounge opened for premium passengers at Hong Kong's
new Chek Lap Kok airport in July 1998, featuring the
latest business facilities, including a designated First
class lounge and shower rooms. The two organisations
continue to co-ordinate sales and marketing activity
around the world, investing in joint offices, travel shops
and airport facilities in many cities, thus offering the
best in customer service to ali their passengers,

Qantas’ pre-tax profit for the six months ended
December 31, 1998 (consolidated in the March 31, 1999
quarter result) amounted to A3354 million, an increase
of 30.5 per cent on the corresponding period last year.
Graup profit after tax amounted to A$222 million,
up 33.8 per cent. Revenue for the six months was
A$4,299 million, up 2.5 per cent compared to last year.
Excluding the impact of adverse exchange movements,
operating costs reduced by 1.4 per cent due to the
continuing focus on efficiency and productivity. Net
passenger revenue increased by 1.2 per cent reflecting
an increase in passenger vield of 2.2 per cent which
included a favourable impact from foreign currency
movements. Excluding exchange movements, passenger
yield declined by 1.9 per cent. Overall, cost per ASK,
excluding the impact of unfavourable exchange
movements, feil by 3.1 per cent mainly due to lower
fuel prices and the achievement of A$230 million in
benefits through 2 combination of new efficiency,
productivity and non-passenger revenue enhancement
initiatives. The operating margin (Earnings Before
Interest and Tax) improved by 14.8 per cent and
Earnings Per Share improved by 27.3 per cent.

Franchising
As at March 31, 1999, 119 aiccraft of 21 different types

New ways of working have
been adopted in virtually
all areas, as part of the
Business Efficiency
Programme, with great
progress made in our

substantially improving
flexibifity and productivity.
in the USA, a new contracy
has been agreed with the
International Association

of Machinists.
industrial relations. "
In the UK, most recently,
agreement has been
reached with BALPA,
the pilots’ union,

have been franchised into British Airways colours, operating
to 103 different destinations worldwide of which 69 are
additional to the British Airways mainline network.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Earnings per share

Profit attributable to the members of British Airways
decreased by 55.2 per cent to £206 million, equivalent
to earnings of 19.5p per share compared with 44.7p
[ast year.

Dividends

The Board recommends a final dividend of 12,8 pence
per share, giving a total dividend for the year of 17.9
pence per share, compared with 16.6 pence per share
in the previous year, an increase of 7.8 per cent.

Share of operating profit in associates

British Airways’ share of operating profits from
associated undertakings decreased by £7 million to
£62 million during the year, principally due to the
partial disposaf of Galileo International Inc. last year.

Profit on sale of fixed assets and investments

Net profit on disposal of fixed assets and investrnents
amounted to £51 millien, including £48 million profit on
the partiat disposal of the group’s investment in Equant.
Last year's net profit included the profit on disposal of
the group's investment in US Airways Group Inc. of
£129 million and profit an the partial disposal of the group’s
investment in Galileo International [nc. of £45 million.

Net interest payable

Net interest expense, including related foreign
exchange differences, was £357 million for the year.
This was up on last year due to additional aircraft
acquisitions and book charges of £94 million refating
to the revaluation of yen debt used to fund aircraft
acquisitions. This charge does not represent cash lost
to the business, but is required by standard accounting
practice. The revaluation results from the strengthening
of the yen by 14 per cent during the year. Last year the
downward revaluation of yen debts reduced interest
expense by £38 million,




P

Good people
management

Under a programme called,
simply, “Good Pegple
Management”, we have
taken a range of steps to
improve the way we manage

people in the company. We
have refined our manage-
ment training, development
and performance
management systems

to place a greater focus

on people management.
Every manager is now
measured on his or her
leadership, communication
and motivation abilities,

and is required to spend
a minimum of one
working day a year in
a frontline customer
contact role, through our
“In Touch” programme.
The company's
relationship with its
employees themselves has
been measured this spring
in the biggest survey of

their attitudes and
opinions we have
undertaken. Some of rh{
results were heartening, %
showing that more than *
90 per cent of the
workforce feel proud to
work for British Airways,
Others identified areas

1o work on to improve
morale further.

Taxation
The analysis of the tax charge is set out in Note 11 to
the accounts.

The tax charge for the year has benefited from tax
allowances in excess of depreciation arising principally
from the acquisition of aircraft. This has resulted in
a loss, as adjusted for UK tax purposes, for the year.
Adjustments to prior year taxation in respect of LUK
corporation tax and advance corporation tax {ACT)
have further reduced the charge for tax, No amounts
of ACT have been written off on dividends in respect
of the year as such dividends Fall under UK tax rules
on dividends paid after April 5, 1999 on which ACT is
no longer due. The main components of the tax charge
relate to taxes paid overseas in respect of the group’s
interest in Qantas and in the taxation of funds overseas.

Share capital

On June 15, 1998, 10,095,979 ordinary shares were
issued in exchange for 23,628,275 Convertible Capital
Bonds on the basis of one ordinary share for every 2.34
Bonds held. During the year, more than twenty two million
shares were issued on the exercise of options under
Employee Share Option Schemes. This included twenty
million options exercised under the 1993 Share Save
Scheme which matured on December 1, 1998.

Net debt/total capital ratio

Borrowings net of cash and short-term loans and
deposits amounted to £5,526 million at the year end,
an increase of £923 million on last year. This is mainly
the result of new finance lease and hire purchase
borrowings (£1,470 million} and exchange effects (£208
million), offset to an extent by an increase in cash, short-
term loans and deposits (£431 million) and repayment
of borrowings (£324 million). Capital and reserves rose
£34 million, giving a net debt/total capital ratio of
62.2 per cent, a 4.1 point increase over last year.

Review of cash flow

Net cash inflow from operating activities totalled
£1,241 million, During the year there was significant
investment in fixed assets amounting to £1,807 million.
The sale of part of the group’s holding in Equant generated

proceeds of £48 million and other miscellaneous disposals,
mainly aircraft, contributed a further £182 million.

The net financing requirement for the year amounted
to £804 million. Owverall, cash increased by £68 million.

Working capital

At March 31, 1999, net current liabilities were

£498 million, down £78 million on last year. This change
reflects increased short-term loans and deposits and a
switch of some borrowings between short and long term,
and lower year-over-year profit share provisions. These
movements have been partly offset by the increase in
dividends payable of £66 million, reflecting the deferred
payment of the interim dividend and an increase year-
on-vear in the final dividend.

Capital expenditure
Group capital expenditure on tangible assets is set out
in Note 14e to the accounts.

Aircraft fleet changes

At the start of the year British Airways announced
changes to the fleet, allowing the accelerated retirement
of older, less efficient aircraft and reflecting the latest
expectations for growth in the industry.

whilst the number of aircraft in the group has grown
by five during the year there have been significant
changes in the fleet mix. This has included the entry
into service of an additional nine Boeing 747-400s, five
Boeing 737-300s, four Boeing 777-200s, three Boeing
767-300s and one Boeing 757-200. A significant
number of older aircraft were sold, returned to lessor or
stood down in the period. These included nine Boeing
737-200s, six Boeing 747-100s and ten BAe ATPs.
Following the return of three DC-10s from sublease all
eight of the DC-1{ fleet were taken out of service prior
to delivery to their new owners.

Brymon, now flying some former BA Regional routes,
has increased its fleat by seven, go commenced operations
and now has a fleet of eight Boeing 737-300s in operation.
Ajr Liberté saw a net reduction of two aircraft and
Deutsche BA saw no change in their fleet numbers.

During the year a new strategy was developed which
allows capacity to be matched closely to demand for
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Focused on profitability

Our new fleet and network refinement strategies are
building on our business efficiency programmes, enabling
us to concentrate on strong profitability into the future.

P—

New fleet and
network strategies

Our new fleet strategy will
result in the largest fleet
restructuring in the history
of the company.

It focuses on four key

elements:

» Retirement of our eight
DC10s, replaced with a
mixture of Boeing 777s
and Boeing 767s

 Substitution of future
orders for 400-seater
Boeing 747-400s with
260-seater Boeing 777s

* Replacement of the
Boeing 747-200 fleet
ahead of normal
retirement dates
with new long-range
Boeing 777s

* Replacing a large
number of Boeing 7575
with smaller Airbus
A319s and A320s,

This restructuring, and
the development of our
network and alliances,
will enable us to maximise
the benefits of London’s
large paint-to-paint traffic
demand, improving the
quality of the revenue we
earn, thereby improving
our margins.




biggest single investment in
airport real estate, at

£250 million. ltis a
comerstone of our plans to
develop our cargo activities
1o match the success of our
Our new World Cargocentré  worldwide passenger

was officially opened by business. Radical new
Deputy Prime Minister ways of working have been
John Prescott in May 1999. agreed with employees,
This facility represents our  providing considerably more

T—

New World
Cargocentre opens

Operating and financial review
continued

point-to-point and premium business whilst reducing
capacity available for less profitable connecting and
low yield traffic.

To facilitate this, orders and options were placed
with Airbus for up to 188 new A319, A320 and A321
aircraft with IAE V2500 engines. Initial deliveries
of A319s, beginning in September 1999, will allow
progressive replacement of older 737-200 aircraft.
Subsequently A319 and A320 deliveries to the Gatwick
operation will allow downsizing of both Gatwick and
Heathrow fleets as some Boeing 757s are replaced.

As part of this plan, four new Boeing 757 aircraft were
assigned to a new owner prior to delivery.

Longhaul changes to support this strategy involved
converting five more existing orders and seven options
for Boeing 747-400 aircraft into a new order for 16
firm and 16 option Boeing 777-200ER {extended
range) aircraft with Rolls Royce Trent 895 engines.

Financing

Seventeen newly delivered aircraft, comprising ten
Boeing 747-400s, three Boeing 777-200s, three
Boeing 767-300s and one Boeing 757-200 were
financed on cross border hire purchase arrangements,
the large majority of which were Japanese leveraged
lease financings. In addition, two new Boeing 747-400s
and one new Boeing 777-200 were funded by way of
UK tax based finance leases.

Further attractive financings undertaken comprised
the sale and leaseback of three used Airbus A320s and
a used Boeing 757-200, the refinancing of four Boeing
767-300s on UK finance lease arrangements, and the
financing of a two year old Boeing 747-400 by way
of a fifteen year sterling mortgage loan.

During financial year 1998-99 a total of approximately
£70 million of non-aircraft related secured finance was
drawn down against various airport infrastructure projects.

Management of financial risks

The board of directors sets the treasury policies and
objectives of the group, and lays down the parameters
within which the various aspects of treasury risk
management are operated. Responsibility for ensuring
that treasury policies and objectives are consistent and
compatible with the group’s overall financial strategy and

flexibility and ensuring we
can deliver the best service
to our customers — and
improved returns for our
shareholders.

the external financial environment in which British Airways
operates is vested in 2 Finance Committee, which makes
suitable proposals and recommendations to the board
of directors. Group treasury implements the agreed
policies on a day-to-day basis with a view to meeting
the treasury objectives in a risk averse though cost
effective manner. These objectives include ensuring that
the group has sufficient liquidity to meet its day-to-day
needs and to fund its capital investment programme;
deploying any surplus liquidity in 2 prudent and
profitable manner; managing currency, interest rate and
credit exposures within the framework and guidelines
laid down by the board of directors; and managing

the group’s relationship with a large number of diverse
banks and other financial instttutions world-wide,

Financing and interest rate tisk
Much of the group’s debt is asset related, reflecting the
capital-intensive nature of the airline industry and the
attractiveness of aircraft as security to lenders and other
financiers, These factors are also reflected in the medium
to long-term maturity profiles of the group's ioans, finance
leases and hire purchase arrangements. The incidence
of repayments is shown in Note 25¢ and consistently
falls within a range of approximately £400 million to
£600 million for each of the next eleven financial years.
The range of interest rates in respect of all
borrowings, comprising both fixed and floating-rate
obligations, is shown in Note 10. At March 31, 1999,
37 per cent of the group’s borrowings (after swaps), net
of cash, short-term loans and deposits, were at fixed
rates of interest, and 63 per cent were at floating rates
reflecting the group’s strategy of continuing to take
advantage of the downtrend in sterling interest rates,
whilst minimising volatility by maintaining a quantum
of fixed rate debr obligations. The group’s borrowings
are predominantly denominated in pounds sterling,
US dollars and Japanese ven. Sterling represents the
group’s natural “home” currency, whilst a substantial
proportion of the group’s fixed assets is priced and
transacted in US dollars. The japanese yen liabilities
arise as a result of the group’s substantial Japanese
cross border hire purchase arrangements entered into
over the last nine years. Details of the currency mix of
the group’s gross borrowings are shown in Note 25a.
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David Spurlock,
Director of Strategy

20 British Airways

“Qur fleet and network
refinement programmes
will enabie us to
deliver real benefits
to the business -
and to our customers.”

Operating and financial review
continued

Liquidity and investments
At March 31, 1999 the group had at its disposal short
term loans and deposits and cash at bank and in hand
amounting to £1,163 million {1998: £738 million). [n
addition, the group had undrawn committed financing
facilities relating to its new World Cargocentre amounting
o £100 million, together with unused overdraft and
revolving credit facilities of £40 mitlion. it also had
undrawn uncommitted money market lines of £260 million,
US$45 million and DM30 million with a number of banks.
The group's holdings of cash and short-term loans
and deposits, together with committed Funding facilities
and net cash flow, are expected to be sufficient to cover
the cost of all firm aircraft deliveries due in the next
two years. The acquisition of Boeing 777-200 aircraft
and Airbus A320 family aircraft, scheduled for delivery
during the next six years, is expected to be financed
partially by cash holdings and internal cash flow and
partially through external financing, including committed
facilities arranged prior to delivery. Because of the
necessity to plan aircraft orders well in advance of
delivery, it is not economic for British Airways to have
committed funding in place now for all outstanding
orders, many of which relate to aircraft which will not
be delivered for several years. British Airways' policies
in this regard are in line with the funding policies of
other airlines. In addition to aircraft related financing
facilities, the group has a number of unsecured borrowing
facilities of both a short- and long-term nature which
may be used for the general purposes of the group.
Surplus funds are invested in high quality short-term
tiquid instruments, notably bank deposits and asset
backed floating rate notes. Credit risk is managed by
timiting the aggregate exposure to any individual
counterparty, taking into account its credit rating. Such
cournterparty exposures are regularly reviewed, and
adjusted as necessary. The possibility of material loss
arising in the event of non-performance by counterparty
is accordingly considered to be unlikely.

Foreign currency risk

The group does business in approximately 140 foreign
currencies which account for approximately 60 per cent
of group revenue and approximately 40 per cent of
operating expenses. The group generates a surplus in

track, with £610 million

a year of efficiencies
achieved by the end of
March 1999. Every part
of the company wilf have
played its part in bringing
this programme to a
successful conclusion, by
reviewing every activity
we carry out to ensure

it is as effective as possible
in its cost and use of assets.

—

Business Efficiency
Programme

Qur Business Efficiency
Programme, launched in
1996, ts approaching its
target of £1 billion of
efficiencies a year by the
vear 2000. We are well on

mast of these currencies. The principal exceptions are
the US dollar and the pound sterling in which the group
has a deficit arising from capital expenditure and the
payment of some leasing costs, together with expenditure
on fuel, which is payabie in US dollars, and the majority
of staff costs, central overheads and other feasing costs,
which are pavable in pounds stetling. However, the
broad spread of currencies in the business — many

of which are linked to the US dollar and the pound
sterling — gives the group a measure of protection against
exchange rate movements and reduces the overall
sensitivity of the group’s results to exchange rate
fluctuations. Nonetheless, the group can experience
adverse or beneficial effects. For example, if the pound
sterling weakened against the US dollar and strengthened
against other major currencies, the overall effect would
be likely to be adverse, while the reverse would be
likely to produce a beneficial effect.

The group seeks to reduce its foreign exchange
exposure arising from transactions in various currencies
through a policy of matching, as far as possible, receipts
and payments in each individual currency, Surpluses of
convertible currencies are sold, either spot or forward,
for LIS doliars and pounds sterling. The group has
substantial liabilities denominated in yen which consist
mainly of purchase gption payments falling due under
various Japanese leveraged lease arrangements maturing
between 2003 and 2011. The group expects to utilise
its stream of yen traffic revenues as a natural hedge
against these maturing yen liabilities as they fall due.

The group's forward transactions in foreign currency
are detailed in Note 35 to the accounts.

In addition to the primary effects outlined above,
exchange rate movements can affect demand for services,
especially from leisure travellers whose decision whether
and where to travel may alter as a result of exchange
rate movements. While it is not possible to quantify
this effect, British Airways does monitor exchange rate
movements in an attempt to anticipate likely changes in
the pattern of demand.

Derivative financial instruments

British Airways uses derivative financial instruments
[derivatives) with off-balance sheet risk selectively for
treasury and fuel risk management purposes.




focus on carrying the
passengers who are
the most valuable to
us. Our new network
strategy, carried out in
conjunction with our
allfance partners wil!
ensure that we have
optimal capacity and
frequency to each
destination and highlight

P—

Premium focus

As we move into the
21st Century with a
fleet that is more capital
efficient and with fewer
lower yielding economy
seats, we will be able to

The risk management strategy for both treasury

and fuel operations is implemented by the respective
departments within the guidelines and parameters

laid down by the board of directors, and reflects a

risk averse policy. The company's policy is not to trade
in derivatives but to use these instruments to hedge
perceived exposures, where appropriate.

As part of its treasury risk management activities the
company has entered into a number of swap agreements
in order to hedge its direct exposures to interest rates
and/or currency exchange rates. Single and cross
currency swap agreements outstanding at March 31,
1999 are summarised in Note 36 to the Accounts.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are actively used
to cover a proportion of future capital commitments
denominated in US dollars and to cover to a limited
extent near term future revenues and operating payments
in a variety of currencies, Forward foreign exchange
contracts outstanding at March 31, 1999 are summarised
in Note 35 to the Accounts.

Whilst the company considers the purchase of interest
rate caps and the entering into of forward rate agreements
as bona fide exposure management activities, it would
not generally contemplate the opening of new exposures
by selling puts, calls or options. Other treasury
derivative instruments would be considered on their
merits as valid and appropriate risk management tools.

The company’s fuel risk management strategy aims to
provide the airline with protection against sudden and
significant increases in oil prices while ensuring that the
airline is not competitively disadvantaged in a serious
way in the event of a substantial fall in the price of fuel.
The strategy operates within fiscal limits set by the
Board and agreed in detail by the hedging committee,
which is made up of representatives from fuel, finance,
rreasury and strategy.

In meeting these objectives, the fuel risk management
programme allows for the judicious use of a number
of derivatives traded on regulated exchanges in London
(the Institute of Petroleum Exchange) and New York
{the New York Mercantile Exchange} as well as on
the Over The Counter {OTC) markets (with approved
counterparties and within approved limits). The
instruments used include futures and forward contracts,

on the ground and in the
air to offer in our premium
services what the First agd

the most attractive of

the 40,000 transfer
conpections our route
network offers. We are
getting the basics right
with excellent punctuality,
promptly delivered bags
and good quality food
and wine professionally

needs and expects in
modern airline service.

served. We are investing in

innovative new products

options, collars, caps and swaps. The use of these
instruments is reviewed on a regular basis by the
hedging committee, The company's policy does not
allow for short positions to be taken.

As derivatives are used for the purposes of risk
management they do not expose the group to market
risk because gains and losses on the derivatives offset
losses and gains on the asset, liability, revenues or costs
being hedged. Moreover, counterparty credit risk is
generally restricted to any hedging gain from time to
time, and not the principal amount hedged, and the
possibility of material loss arising in the event of non-
performance by a counterparty is accordingly considered
to be less likely.

OUTLOOK

Economic conditions and increased competition have
resuited in excess industry capacity, particularly on the
North Atlantic, which has forced yields down. The situation
is not likely to improve materially in the short term,

British Airways’ Business Plan, including the new
fleet and network strategy, will deliver important structural
improvements to the business, all designed to improve
customer service, raise margins and deliver higher returns
from the assets employed. The aircraft fleet is being
rationalised and, as a result, overall capacity will not
grow over the next five years; operational and commercial
flexibility will also be enhanced.

The BEP will deliver the full £1 billion of cost efficiencies
by the end of the new financial year enabling continuing
investment in the basics of good customer service:
customer care, punctuality and baggage handling, A key
employee training programme “Putting People first again”
has been launched to reinforce commitment to customers.
A major programme of product improvements is under
preparation, including the new Club World flyving bed,
and we continue to implement the oneworld™ alliance.

As a result, investors can look beyond the short term
with confidence, provided no new global economic
shocks occur. British Airways should emerge from the
current difficult market conditions with competitive
cost levels, greater flexibility and with an aircraft fleet,
network and ailiance grouping focused on the most
profitable segments of the market.

business class passenger® -
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Board members and President Emeritus

Back row from left to right: Lord Renwick of Clifton, Robert Ayling,

Captain Colin Barnes, The Hon. Raymond Seiz, Michae! Davies.

Front row from left to righe: Lord Marshall of Knightsbridge, Dr Ashok Ganguly,
Baroness O‘'Cathain, Sir Michael Angus, Derek Stevens.

CHAIRMAN (NON-EXECUTIVE)

Lord Marshall of Knightsbridge (65}

Board member since 1983. Chairman since 1993, non-executive
since 1996, Lord Marshall served as an executive for 13 years with
the airline, inittally as Chief Executive then as Deputy Chairman
and Chief Executive and latterly as Chairman. He is also Chairman
of Inchcape ple, Invensys ple, and the London Development
Partntership, Deputy Chairman of British Telecommunications plc
and a director of HSBC Holdings plc. He currently serves the
Confederation of British Industry as Deputy President.

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN (NON-EXECUTIVE)

Sir Michael Angus (69)

Non-executive director since 1988, Deputy Chairman since 1989.
Chairman of Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

Sir Michael is the Board's senior non-executive director. He is Chairman
of Whitbread PLC, Deputy Chairman of The Boots Company PLC
and a director of National Westminster Bank PLC. He also serves

as Chairman of the Governors at Ashridge Management College.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Robert Ayling (52}

Executive Board member since 1991, Chief Executive since 1996.
Before his appointment as Chief Executive, Bob Ayling had been
Group Managing Director for 3 years. He was recruited to the
airline in 1985 as Legal Director, later adding the role of Company
Secretary and Director of Human Resources to his responsibilities.
He was appointed Director of Marketing and Operations in 1991.
He serves as a director of Qantas Airways Ltd {as nominee for
British Airways), and of Roval Sun Alliance Group PLC. He is Chairman
of The New Millennium Experience Co Ltd and a member of Business
in the Community and the Association of European Airlines.
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Derek Stevens (60)

Executive Board member since 1989. Derek Stevens joined the
airline as Chief Financiat Officer in 1989. He serves as Chairman of
the Airways Pension Scheme and the New Airways Pension Scheme,
as Director of Galileo International Inc. (as nominee for British
Airways) and of CGU plc.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Captain Colin Barnes {65)

Non-executive director since 1991. Chairman Safety Review
Committee. Colin Barnes retived from British Airways as Chief Pilot
and Director of Flight Crew in 1991, He represents British Airways
on the Flight Safety Foundation and is a Member of the Council and
Policy Committee of the Air League.

Michael Davies (64)

Non-executive director since 1983. Audit, Remuneration,
Nominations and Safety Review Committees. Michael Davies is
Chairman of Perkins Foods PLC, Simon Group plc, National Express
Group PLC and Corporate Services Group PLC.

Dr Ashok Ganguly (63)

Non-executive director since 1996. Audit and Safety Review
Committees. A Fellow of the Royal Society of Chemistry, Ashok
Ganguly is Chairman of IC] India Ltd, and a Director of ICICI, ICICI
Knowledge Park Ltd, Mahindra & Mahindra Ltd, Sedgwick Parekh
Heaith Management Ltd and Wipro Corporation.

Baroness O’Cathain (61)

Non-executive director since 1993, Audit, Remuneration,
Nominations and Safety Review Committees, Detta O'Cathain is also
a director of Tesco Plc, Thistle Hotels PLC, BNP {UK) Holdings Ltd
and South East Water plc.

Lord Renwick of Clifton (61)

Non-executive director since 1996. Safety Review Committee.
A former career diplomat, Robin Renwick is Chairman of Robert
Fleming Inc, and of Fluor Daniel Ltd. He is also a director of
Compagnie Financiere Richemont AG, Liberty International plc,
Billiton plc, Canal Plus and South African Breweries PLC.

The Hon. Raymond Seitz (58)

Non-executive director since 1995, Safety Review Committee,

A former US Ambassador 1o the Court of St James, Ray Seiz is
Vice-Chairman of Lehman Brothers International, and a director
of The Chubb Corporation, General Electric Company plc, Cable
and Wireless plc, The Telegraph Group plc and Rio Tinto pic.

PRESIDENT EMERITUS

The Rt Hon. The Lord King of Wartnaby (31)

LLord King was Chairman of British Airways for 12 years from 1981,
and served as President from 1993 to 1997.




Executive team

Bob Ayling (52)
Chief Executive
See Page 22 for biographical details.

Martin George (37)

Director of Marketing

Responsible for the airline’s marketing activities including
advertising, the development of British Airways brands, corporate
identity and Executive Club as well as market research, customer
relations and in-flight entertainment. Martin joined in 1987 from
Cadbury Ltd, where he worked in a number of marketing roles.

Charles Gurassa (43)

Director of Passenger and Cargo Business

Responsibie for the profitability of the airline’s passenger and cargo
activities worldwide, its airline subsidiaries and franchises, and for
overseeing al} sales and marketing employees outside the UK and

all customer services staff outside London. An Economics graduate,
Charles was recruited in 1989 from Thomas Cook, where he worked
in the UK, USA and Hong Kong.

Captain Mike Jeffery (54)

Director of Flight Operations

Responsible for all of British Airways’ flight operations, including
all pilots, flight engineers and the flight operations ground-based
support organisations. Mike joined as a pilot in 1965, moving
into management in 1976, working for 13 years in various flight
management roles, and later in Engineering running its major
maintenance division, until becoming a Director in 1996, He
currently flies Boeing 747s.

Colin Matthews (43)

Managing Director of British Airways Engineering

Responsible for the airworthiness of the British Airways fleet, and for
the company’s Purchasing and Information Management functions.
A Cambridge graduate in Engineering, Colin was recruited in 1997
after nine years with General Electric (USA), latterly in Canada
running its hydro-electric equipment business.

Roger Maynard (56}

Diractor of Investments and Joint Ventures

Responsible for acquisitions and other investments, new businesses
and disposals. In the past vear, he has led the teams negotiating the
proposed alliance with American Airtines, acquisition of CityFlyer
Express and investment in Iberia, Previously an aviation specialist
with the Department of Trade, Roger joined in 1987, initially
representing its interasts in North America before taking on a more
strategic role. He is one of British Airways’ appointed directors of
GQantas Airways Lid.

Dale Moss (51}

Director of Sales

Leads the worldwide sales team in generating £7 billion of revenue
from passenger-carrying activities. An American, Dale originally
joined in 1970, working in sales and marketing. After a brief period
with Rosenbiuth Travel in Philadelphia, he rejoined in 1993 in the
USA as Senior Vice-President Sales and then Executive Vice-
President Saies and Marketing.

John Patterson (51)

Director of Alliances

Negotiates and maintains the company’'s worldwide alliances with
ather airlines, Member of the aneworld Management Team, John was
selected as a graduate trainee in 1970. Since then, he has worked

in human resources, cabin services, and telephone sales. He has
previously served as Director of Operations and Director of Strategy.

David Spurlock (31)

Director of Strategy

Responsible for the group’s overall strategy, including fleet planning,
network development, business planning and economics team.
David joined in 1997 from The Boston Consulting Group.

A Californian, he holds both an undergraduate degree and an

MBA from Stanford University.

Derek Stevens {60)
Chief Financial Officer
See Page 22 for biographical details.

Mike Street (51)

Director of Customer Service and Operations

Responsible for designing and delivering a commercially acceptable,
cost effective and punctual operation, heading teams at Heathrow
and Gatwick to ensure the airline’s customers receive the highest
possible level of service in the air and on the ground. Also manages
the airline’s property portfolio, fuel and other operating charges.

In his 35 years with the airline Mike has held many roles including
MD of British Airways European Operations at Gatwick, Head of
Business Units, Catering and Cabin Services.

Mervyn Walker (40)

Director of Human Resources

A qualified solicitor, Mervyn worked in private practice and local
government before joining the airtine’s legal department in 1986. For
three years from 1988 he served as Vice-President Administration at
Galileo International, the computer reservations systems company in
which British Airways is a shareholder. He returned to the airline as
Legal Director in 1991, subsequently serving as Director of Purchasing.

Simon Walker (45)

Director of Communrications

Responsible for media relations and employee communications.
Simon joined in 1998 from the Brunswick Group PR firm from
which he was seconded 1o the Prime Minister's Policy Lnit between
1996 and 1997. He had earlier worked in Brussels as Director of
European Public Affairs for the Hill & Knowlton agency, as
Communications Director for the New Zealand Labour Party and as
a television journalist. South African by birth, he was President of
the Oxford Unien while at the university.

Robert Webb QC (50}

General Counsel

Responsible for the Legal Department, Government and Industry
Affairs and Safety, Security and the Environment. Robert was
appointed in 1998 after ten years’ practice as a Queen’s Counsel
and Head of Chambers at 5 Bell Yard, where he was described as
“the acknowledged guru of aviation actions”. He is a Bencher of
the Inner Temple and a Fellow of the Royal Aeronautical Society.
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in presenting their Report and Accounts
for the year ended March 31, 1999. The accounts are set out on
pages 33 to 62.

Principal activities

The main activities of British Atrways Plc and its subsidiary
undertakings are the operation of international and domestic
scheduled and charter air services for the carriage of passengers,
freight and mail and the provision of ancillary services.

Results for the year

Profit for the year attributable to members of British Airways Plc
amounted to £206 million, against £460 million in the previous year.
The Board recommends a final dividend of 12.8p per share. An
interim dividend of 5.1p per share was paid in April making a total
of 17.9p per share, an increase of 7.8 per cent on the previous year.
After providing £191 million for dividends, the retained profit for the
year amounted to £15 million.

Directors

The names and details of the directors are set out on page 22.
The membership of the Board has remained unchanged during the
year to March 31, 1999,

Lord Marshall of Knightsbridge, Mr Michael Davies, Dr Ashok
Ganguly and Lord Renwick of Clifton retire and seek re-election in
accordance with the company’s Articles of Association at the annual
general meeting to be held on July 13, 1999. None of these directors
have service contracts with the company. Biographical notes about
the directors seeking re-election are set out on page 22 and in the
explanatory notes of the notice of annual general meeting.

Directors” membership of Board Committees appears on page 22.
Details of the directors’ remuneration and share interests are set out
on pages 28 and 29,

Employee invoivement

The company is committed to recognising the contribution to its
success of well motivated and dedicated employees and to involving
them fully in the company's fortunes.

During the year British Airways ran its largest Employee Opinion
Survey yet with gquestionnaires sent to almost 50,000 employees
world-wide. The highest ever response in a British Airways company-
wide survey was received with just over 30,000 employees
responding. The executive team has committed to act upon the
results in a series of promises made to staff.

The company fully supports employee share ownership and
would like 1o see the number of staff holding shares and their
shareholding increased from the current levels of some 74 per cent
and 4.4 per cent respectively. Although the pre-tax profit for the
year under review was insufficient to trigger an operation of the
British Airways Profit Sharing Share Scheme, the company has one
Savings Related Share Option Scheme currently in operation and
one that has recently matured.
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The 1993 operation of the Savings Related Share Option Scheme
matured in December 1998 enabling some 17,000 employees to buy
some 20 million shares at an option price of £2.86, The current
operation, known as Sharesave "98 was offered to employees in the
United Kingdom as well as in 79 countries outside the UK. It enables
employees to save up to £60 per month, with the option, after three
years to buy shares at 418p per share. A similar scheme operates in
the USA,

In December 1998 the company won the Pro Share award for
“Extending Employee Share Schemes beyond the UK” recognising
the sheer scale of the company’s international employee share
schemes. The company hopes to launch further Savings Related
Share QOption Schemes every two years with the next planned for
February 2600.

Equal opportunity

British Airways' Equal Opportunity Policy and Code of Practice is
underpinned by a Steering Group chaired by the Director of Human
Resources and comprising senior line managers who champion equal
opportunity and diversity throughout the company. This ensures that
the Policy is translated into actions and that those actions take account
of local departmental circumstances. A new Harassment and Bullying
Policy has been launched this year to reinforce the company's values
of mutual respect and valuing others.

The company continues to be actively involved in Opportunity
2000 and Race for Opportunity, a national campaign to help and
encourage ethnic minorities to succeed in areas of empioyment,
community affairs and business activity. In addition, the Chief
Executive has signed the Commission for Racial Equality's
Leadership Challenge, through which business leaders commit
themselves to promote racial equality and diversity.

Charitable donations
British Airways' charitable donations in the year under review were
£1.2 miilion {1998: £1.2 million).

The company’s investment in the community is greater still, if
benefits in kind are given their market value, On this basis, the
airline’s contributions were audited by Business in the Community
in 1997-98 and totailed £6.8 million, qualifying the company for
membership of The Per Cent Club.

The British Airways Change for Good programme with UNICEF
has now raised more than £7 million for needy children around the
world, by collecting unwanted foreign currencies from passengers.

We continue to take pride in the achievements of our employees
in their charitable endeavours:

David Mustill, a dispatcher at Heathrow, was made an MBE in
acknowledgement of his achievemnent in building a school, where
none had previously existed, for 500 children in Ghana.

Stephanie Moore, a Cabin Service Director, raised more than
£500,000 rowards The Bobby Moore Fund for Imperial Cancer
Research, a remarkable memorial to her husband, captain of the
1966 England soccer World Cup winning team, who died aged 51
from bowel cancer.




British Atrways employees at Manchester are working together to raise
£250,000 for charities in the North West of England using a range of
enterprising initiatives including a sponsored swim with sharks.

Many other employee charities continue to go from strength to
strength, The Dhaka Orphanage celebrated its tenth anniversary in
its new buildings. Dreamflight, Happy Child and The British Airways
Runners continued to flourish, In the year under review the company
gave 275 awards worth some £160,000 in its Cheques for Charity
Scheme which invites bids from empiovyees to support their charitabie
efforts. Employee volunteers who support local organisations such as
the Scouts, the Samaritans and local schools have also been assisted
during the year.

Political donations
No political donations were made during the year {1998 nil}.

Health and safaty

The company is committed to safeguarding the health and safety

of its employees, passengers, contractors and others affected by its
activities. Implementation of heaith and safety policies and procedures
is a key management objective and performance is monitored by the
Board's Safety Review Committee.

Environment

One of the company's five key values is to be a “Good Neighbour”
showing concern for the environment and the community. This is
supported by a strong statement of environmental policy and there is
a small central group charged with implementing the policy through
provision of suppert and advice, as wel] as measuring and
monitoring performance,

This programme includes site audits and reviews of specific topics
within key areas of noise, fuel efficiency and emissions to the
atmosphere, waste, materials and water, congestion in the air and
on the ground and tourism and conservation. The airline has
participated in the preparation of the report “Aviation and the global
atmosphere” to be published in summer 1999 by the United Nation's
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

The airline supports two major environmental cutreach programmes,
the British Airways Tourism for Tomorrow Awards recognising
environmental responsibility in the industry and British Airways
Assisting Conservation which works largely by providing assistance
with travel to leading worldwide conservation organisations.

The airline has received awards for its environmental programmes
from a number of organisations including ACCA {the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants), the Royal Geographical Society,
the Smithsonian Institution. and the 1997 Environmental
Stewardship Award from the Council on Economic Priorities. Each
vear the airline publishes an Environmental Report in which progress
against specific targets and specific environmental indicators is
recorded. Copies of the 1998-99 report can be obtained from
Environmental Branch, British Airways Plc, Waterside (HBBRG),

PO Box 365 Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB, UK,

Year 2000

The company's programme o address issues of computer
functionality through the change of millennium has continued on
schedule through the year under review and reports on progress are
received regularly by the Board's Audit Committee and by the Board.
Further defails of this programme may be found on page 12.

Shareholders

The company maintains regular contact with its larger institutional
shareholders through its investor relations’ team and through meetings
with the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer. Private
shareholders receive the British Airways Investor newspaper twice
annually and are encouraged either to attend the annual general
meeting or to expreass their views by completing and returning

a Freepost Issue of Concern card the main themes of which are
reported to the Board, responded to in the Chairman’s address at
the annual general meeting and reported in the next edition of
British Airways Investor.

In order 10 protect the operating rights of the company, the
numnber of ordinary shares held by the non-UK nationals is
monitored. At March 31, 1999, 36 per cent of the ordinary shares
of the company were held by non-UK nationals (1998: 30 per cent).
Having regard to all relevant factors including the fact that there are
no large interests of single or associated non-LIK nationals and, in
the absence of unforeseen developments, the directors do not expect
(but without limiting their freedom to act) to seek to exercise their
powers to restrict non-UK share ownership.

Corporate governance

The company has complied throughout the year with the code of
best practice set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code appended
to the Listing Rules of the London Stock Exchange.

The Board of British Airways Plc meets ten times a year and
additionally when necessary to consider ail matters relating to the
overall control, business performance and strategy of the company and
for these purposes the Board has drawn up a schedule of matters
reserved for Board decision. In recognition of the international nature
of the airline business, the Board holds at least three of its meetings
each year at important destinations on British Airways’ route network,

The Board is led by the Chairman and the executive management
of the company is led by Bob Ayling, the Chief Executive. The Board
has ten members: two are executive directors and eight are non-
executive directors. Of the eight non-executive directors, the
Chairman Lord Marshall and Captain Colin Barnes were formerly
executives of the company. The other six are fully independent non-
executive directors drawn from a diversity of business and diplomatic
backgrounds, bringing a broad range of views and experiences to
Board deliberations. The non-executive Deputy Chairman Sir
Michaet Angus is the senior non-executive director on the Board.

Al direcrors receive a regular supply of information about the
company so that they are equipped to play as fuil a part as possible
in Board meetings. All Board members have access to the Company
Secretary for any further information they require. Non-executive
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Directors’ report
continued

directors are encouraged to visit the company’s operations and to speak
with customers and employees whenever they fly. All directors are
required 1o submit themselves for re-election every three years,
Independent professional advice would be available to directors in
appropriate circumstances, at the company’s expense. New directors
are appointed to the Board on the recommendation of the Nominations
Committee whose terms of reference are described below.

The Board has four standing Board Committees which meet

regularly under terms of reference set by the Board:

The Audit Committee meets quarterly under the chairmanship

of the non-executive Deputy Chairman, Sir Michael Angus.

Its members, in addition to Sir Michael are Mr Michael Davies,

Dr Ashok Ganguly and Baroness O'Cathain, all of whom are
independent non-executive directors. The external and internal
auditors, the General Counsel and the Company Secretary attend

all meetings of the Committee and have rights of access to the
Committee, Executives attend as required. The Committee reviews the
company’s financial statements to ensure that its financial reporting
presents a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s
position and prospects, It also reviews the company’s system of
internal control, accounting policies, internal audit reports, compliance
procedures including the Year 2000 programme and the company’s
Code of Business Conduct.

The Safety Review Committee meets at least five times per year
under the chairmanship of Captain Colin Barnes, a former Chief Pilot
of the airline, Its members are Mr Michael Davies, Dr Ashok Ganguly,
Baroness O'Cathain, Lord Renwick and The Hon. Raymond Seitz.
The Committee considers matters relating to the operational safety
and security of the airline and subsidiary atrlines as well as health
and safety issues.

The Nominations Committee meets once a year and additionally
if required to consider the balance of the Board's membership, to
identify any additional skills or experience which might benefit the
Board's performance and to interview candidates and recommend
appointments to the Board. The Commirtee also reviews the
performance of any director seeking re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Its Chairman is non-executive Deputy Chairman
Sir Michael Angus and its members are Lord Marshall, Mr Michael
Davies and Baroness O'Cathain. No member of the Committee
participates in any discussion of his or her own performance.

Directors’ remuneration

The Remuneration Committee of the Board meets at least once

a year to determine the company’s policy on executive directors’
remuneration, to review that remuneration, to consider and decide
grants under the company's long term incentive plan and to

advise on remuneration for senior executives below Board level.
The Committee is chaired by Sir Michael Angus, the non-executive
Deputy Chairman and its other members are Mr Michael Davies
and Baroness Q'Cathain who are also independent non-executive
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directors. No director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
The company’s remuneration policy is to provide compensation
packages at market rate which reward successful performance and
artract, retain and motivate senior execurives. The remuneration
packages offered by the company are comparable with other
internationat businesses of similar size and nature to British Airways.

The remuneration package consists of a basic salary, an annual
bonus and participation in a long term incentive plan. The company
also provides private heaith care, a car and fuel.

Basic salary and benefits

The basic salary reflects the level of responsibility of the executive
director, his market value and individual performance. In reviewing
basic salary, independent external advice is taken on salaries for
comparable jobs in companies similar to British Airways, as well as
the remuneration earned by leaders of other international airlines,

Annual bonus

Executive directors and senior executives participate in an annual
bonus scheme which is designed to reward achievement of pre-tax
profit targets agreed by the Remuneration Committee and linked

to the budget approved by the Board. For executive directors,
maximum bonus is capped at 50 per cent of salary payable only if
an extremely stretching pre-tax profit target is achieved. Bob Ayling
and Derek Stevens participate in this scheme, but no annual bonus
was achieved in the year under review.

Long Term Incentive Plan

The British Airways Long Term Incentive Plan 1996 was approved
by the shareholders at the annuai general meeting in July 1996,
The Plan permits the Remuneration Committee to make awards

of options over shares to selected executives conditional upon the
company’s performance relative to other companies in the FTSE-100
index. Awards become unconditional as to one third on the third,
fourth and fifth anniversaries of the start of the financial year in which
the award was made if the company's ranking by total sharehotder
return (TSR] places it at the 75th percentile or above. A lower
number of options is awarded pro-rata if the company is ranked
between the 41st and 74th percentiles and no shares are awarded
if the TSR is at or below the 40th percentile, All awards are subject
to the Remuneration Committee being satisfied that the company’s
overall financial perfarmance justifies the grant of the option.

Bob Ayling and Derek Stevens received conditional awards
under the Plan during the year under review, details of which may
be found on page 29.

More stringent performance criteria for future operations of
the long rerm incentive plan are proposed if the share option plan
submitted for the approval of shareholders ar the annual general
meeting on July 13, 1999, is approved.




Service contracts

Bob Ayling and Derek Stevens hold two-vear service contracts
with the company. This was market practice at the time of their
respective appointments and no change is proposed. Neither
service contract has provision for predetermined compensation
on termination but full mitigation would be sought,

In the event of a new appointment, the length of service contract
would be determined by the Committee in the light of the then
prevailing market practice and the Committee acknowledges that
the trend is towards contract periods which reduce to one year
after an initial period.

Non-executive directorships

The Board encourages executive directors to broaden their
experience outside the company. Accordingly they are permitted
to take up a limited number of non-executive appointments from
which they may keep any fee.

Pension schemes

Executive directors participate in the New Airways Pension

Scheme which is the main contributory pension scheme open to
employees of the company. Under Bob Ayling's and Derek Stevens’
service contracts, pensionable remuneration includes any annual
bonus paid, as this was the prevailing practice for senior executives
in the company when Bob Ayling and Derek Stevens joined. The
Committee does not propose to change these arrangements since
these are contractual rights. Future appointments of executive
directors will not, however, incfude the annual bonus for pensionable
purposes. Provision for payment of a widow's pension on death and
life insurance providing payment of a lump sum for death in service
is also made.

Non-executive directors’ fees
The Chairman’s fee is determined by the Remuneration Committee.
Fees for the non-executive directors (other than the Chairman) are
determined by the Board on the recommendation of the Chairman
and are reviewed every three years. Neither the Chairman nor the
non-executive directors participate in the long term incentive plan
nor are their fees pensionable. Lord Marshall and Captain Barnes,
being former executives of the company, are in receipt of a pension
under the New Airways Pension Scheme and the Airways Pension
Scheme respectively.

Details of the directors' remuneration for the year under review
and their share interests as at March 31, 1999, may be found on
pages 28 and 29.
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Directors’ report
continued

The remuneration of the exacutive directors was:;

Rabert Ayling Derek Stevens
£ 000 1999 1998 1999 1998
Basic salary 485 450 273 260
Taxable benefits 9 8 9 9
Total 494 458 282 269

Taxable benefits include a company car, fuel, private health insurance and mobile telephone. Performance related bonuses are driven by corporate performance
targets set at the beginning of each financial year by the Remuneration Committee.

Pensions Annual pension Total annual Transfer value
Age as at earned during Pension as at of increase in

March 31, 1999 1998-99 March 31, 1999 accrued benefit

Robert Ayling ' 52 £22,751 £240,519 £296,100
Derek Stevens 60 £11,854 £201,207 £170,329

Transfer values indicate cost to the pension scheme; they cannot meaningfully be added to annual remuneration.

The fees paid to non-executive directors were:

£ 000 1999 1998
Lord Marshall 251 251
Sir Michael Angus 73 71
Captain Colin Barnes 55 47
Michael Davies 25 26
Dr Ashok Ganguly 27 27
Baroness Q'Cathain 31 29
Lord Renwick 26 26
The Hon. Raymond Seitz 25 24

Lord Marshall's fee as non-executive Chairman was £250,000 per annum in addition 1o which he enjoyed taxable benefits of £1,165.

Sir Michael Angus' fee as non-executive Deputy Chairman was £70,000 per annum also reflecting his chairmanship of the Audit, Remuneration and
Nominations Committees. Captain Colin Barnes receives £13,000 per annum for his chairmanship of the Safety Review Committee in addition to the fee paid to
the other non-executive directors. This comprised for the year under review a basic £22,500 per annum plus £500 for each Board Committee separately attended.

Directors” share interests at March 31, 1999

British Airways Pic British Airways Capital Limited
Ordinary shares Ordinary shares

subject to no restrictions subject to restrictions Convertible Capital Bonds
Number March 31, 1999 April 1, 1998 March 31, 1999 Aprit 1, 1998 March 31, 1999 April 1, 1998
Lord Marshall 67,030 52,961 1,451 3224 11,304 11,304
Sir Michael Angus 5212 4,488 1,333 1333
Robert Ayling 40,971 37872 2,624 4,397
Derek Stevens 156,421 14,682 3,115 4,397 109 109
Captain Colin Barnes 21,368 20,769 644 644
Michael Davies 5,224 5224 2,221 2221
Dr Ashok Ganguly 100 100
Baroness O'Cathain 6,000 5100
Lord Renwick 3,058 2,000
The Hon. Raymond Seitz 500

315,884 143,196 7,190 12018 15,611 15611

No director has any beneficial interest in any subsidiary undertaking of the company other than those shown above in the 9.75 per cent Convertible Capital Bonds
2005 of British Airways Capital Limited.

On April 7, 1999 Lord Marshall, Sir Michael Angus and The Hon. Raymand Seiz were allotred 744, 53 and 6 ordinary shares respectively, under the
British Airways Scrip Dividend Scheme.

There were no other changes to the directors’ interests shown above from April 1, 1999 to May 25, 1999,
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Directors’ share options at March 31, 1999
The following directors held options to purchase ordinary shares of British Airways Plc granted under the British Airways Executive Share Option Scheme 1987:

Number Cption Options Exercisable for
Date of granmt of options price exercised* seven years from
Lord Marshall June 9, 1993 81,911 293p June 9, 1996
July 1, 1994 12,903 372p July 1, 1997
Aug 11, 1994 95,465 419p Augl1, 1997

Balance at April 1, 1998 and March 31, 1999 190,279
Robert Ayling June 9, 1993 102,389 293p June 9, 1996
July 1, 1994 16,129 372p July 1, 1997
Aug i1, 1994 81,145 419p Aug 11, 1997
June 30, 1995 14,814 405p June 30, 1998

Balance at April 1, 1998 and March 31, {999 214,477
Derek Stevens May 29, 1989 208,640 192p 208,640 May 26, 1992
June 1, 1990 143,183 196p June 1, 1993
june 16, 1992 46,022 261p June 16, 1995
June 9, 1993 13,651 293p June 9, 1996
July 1, 1994 5,645 372p July 1, 1997
June 30, 1995 7,654 405p June 30, 1998

Balance at April 1, 1998 424,795

July 10, 1998 (208,640) 208,640
Balance at March 31, 1999 216,155

* The share price on the date of exercise was 695p. On july 10, 1998 Derek Stevens disposed of 80,000 shares realising a gain of £402,400. Had he disposed
of ail the shares, his gain would have been £1,049,459.

In addition (o the above, Lord Marshall, Robert Ayling and Derek Stevens each exercised 1,326 options at 286p under the 1993 operation of the British Airways
Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1987 which matured on December 1, 1998. Had dhey disposed of the shares, their gains would have been £1,445, £1,445
and £2,125 respectively, based on the closing share prices on the dates of exercise, being December 1, 1998 ar 395p, December 1, 1998 at 395p and March 11,
1999 at 446.25p respectively. Robert Ayling and Derek Stevens also each hold 559 options at 418p under the 1998 operation of the British Airways Savings
Related Share Option Scheme 1996, exercisable on May 1, 2001. The options held by Lord Marshall were granted whilst he was an executive of the company.
No options lapsed during the year. No further grancs under the British Airways Executive Share Option Scheme 1987 can be made.

Directors’ conditional share options at March 31, 1999
The following directors held conditional awards of options over ordinary shares of British Airways Plc granted under the British Airways Long Term Incentive Plan.

Number of
Date of Grant Opticns
Robert Ayling August 2, 1996 57,034

Junte 13, 1997 46,940
June 12, 1998 54,364

Derek Stevens August 2, 1996 33,507
June 13, 1997 27121
June 12, 1998 30,882

On April 1, 1999 one third of the conditional award made on August 2, 1996 lapsed, as the performance condition was not met in the financial years ended in
1997, 1998 and 1999.

One third of each individual award may vest at the end of the third, fourth and fifth financial years from the year of the grant if the performance of the company,
measured by total shareholder return (TSR] from the year of the grant through to the end of the year in question, places the company at or above the 75th
percentile when compared with the TSR for each of the companies in the FTSE-100 index. If the company's TSR for the period to that financial year end is at or
below the 40th percentile, no options will be granted. If the company’s TSR for that period is between the 41st and 74th percentiles, the number of options will
be determined pro-rata on a straight fine basis. No payment is due upon exercise of options. Options are exercisable for seven years from vesting. All grants of
options are subject to the Remuneration Committee being satisfied that the company's overall financial performance justifies the grant of an option.

Closing prices of the ordinary shares 1999 1998
At March 31 425.5p 607.5p
Highest in the year 703.0p 760.0p
Lowest in the year 308.25p 489.5p
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Directors' report
continued

Internal financial control

The directors are responsible for the company's system of internal
financial control, which is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance regarding:

(a) the safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, and

{b) the maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability
of financial information used within the business or for
publication.

The key procedures that the directors have established to provide
effective internal financial controls are as follows:

Corporate objectives are communicated to all staff through the
distribution of the mission, values and goals, supported by the Code
of Business Conduct which conveys ethical values and establishes
the norms of business behaviour throughout the company.

A clear organisational structure exists detailing lines of authority
and control responsibilities. The professionalism and competence
of staff is maintained both through rigorous recruitment policies
and a performance appraisal system which establishes targets,
accountability, control consciousness and identifies appropriate
training requirements. Action plans are consequently prepared and
implemented to ensure that staff obtain the required skills to fulfil
their responsibilities, and that the company can meet its future
management requirements.

A three-year business plan sets the business agenda. The plan
communicates the corporate strategy, agrees targets for financial
return and service standards, identifies and prioritises improvement
opportunities to deliver the targets and agrees capital and manpower
requirements. The business plan priorities link into the annual
budget process which defines specific departmental action plans.
The budget confirms the targeted result can be achieved, satisfies
departments that their plans are robust and establishes performance
indicators against which departments can be evaluated. The budget
is approved by the Board on an annual basis.

A comprehensive management accounting system is in place
providing both key financial and operational performance indicators
to executive management. Detailed management accounts are
prepared to cover each major area of the business. Vartances from
budget are analysed, explained and acted on in a timely manner.
Monthly meetings are held to discuss performance and specific
projects are discussed as and when required, Information systems
are developed to support the company's long term objectives and
are managed by a professionally staffed Information Management
department. The company follows a professional approach to
financial reporting.

Manuals of policies and procedures are in place covering all
significant areas of the business. These detail lower level controls
including authorisation and approval processes.
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Business controls are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Internal
Audit department which operates internationally and to a programme
based on risk assessment, The department is managed by professionally
gqualified personnel with experience gained from both inside and
outside the industry, The department also ensures that recommendations
made by both internal and external auditors to improve controls

are followed up by management. The Audit Committee, comprising
four non-executive directors, considers significant control matters
raised by management and both the internal and external auditors.
The Committee reports its findings to the Board.

The directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the company’s
internal financial control system considering the processes set out
above and make this statement pursuant to the guidance for
directors issued tn December 1994,

Going concern

After making enquiries, the directors consider that the company has
adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, the going concern basis has been adopted in
preparing the accounts.

Payment poticy

British Airways is a signatory to the Confederation of British Industry
(CBI) code of practice on supplier payment and is committed to the
payment of its suppliers to agreed terms. Further information in
respect of this code can be obtained from the CBI at Centre Point,
103 New Oxford Street, London WC1A 1DLU.

Specific actions include the establishment of an integrated
procurement and payment management system during 1997 with
effective supplier payment as one of its core objectives. The number
of days’ purchases in creditors as at March 31, 1999 in respect of
the company is calculated as 43 days (1998: 48 days). (Calculation
basis as defined by the Companies Act 1985.)

Post balance sheet event

On May 12, 1999 euro 300 million (£196 million) 6.75 per cent
guaranteed Non-voting-Cumulative Preferred Securities guaranteed
by the company were issued by British Airways Finance (Jersey) L.P.,
in which the general partner is British Airways Holdings Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of British Airways Plc.

Auditors

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have indicated their willingness to
continue in office and a resolution proposing their reappointment
and authorising the directors to determine their remuneration will
be proposed at the annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Gail Redwood
Company Secretary
May 25, 1999
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in relation to the accounts

Company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each
financial year which give 2 true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the company and of the group and of the profit and loss of the
group for that period. In preparing those accounts, the directors
are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

« make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent; and

e state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the accounts.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the group and to enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irmegularities.
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Report of the auditors to the members of British Airways Plc

We have audited the accounts on pages 33 to 62, which have been
prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the
revaluation of certain fixed assets and on the basis of the accounting
policies set out on pages 38 to 40.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report
including, as described on page 31, the accounts. Qur
responsibilities, as independent auditors, are established by statute,
the Auditing Practices Board, the Listing Rules of the London Stock
Exchange and by our profession’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the accounts give
a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act. We also report to you if, in our opinton, the
directors’ report is not consistent with the accounts, if the company
has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if the
information specified by law or the Listing Rules regarding directors’
remuneration and transactions with the company is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the annual report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited accounts.

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware
of any apparent misstatemnents or material inconsistencies with
the accounts.

We review whether the statement on page 25 reflects the
company’s compliance with those provisions of the Combined
Code specified for our review by the Stock Exchange, and we
report if it does not, We are not required to form an opinion on
the effectiveness of either the company’s corporate governance
procedures or the group's internal controls.
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Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes an
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the
preparation of the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the group's circumstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
informatien and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the accounts are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overal! adequacy of the
presentation of information in the accounts,

Opinion

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view of the state

of affairs of the company and of the group as at March 31, 1999,
and of the profit of the group for the year then ended and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

E/Aré' (ﬁawj

Ernst & Young
Registered Auditor
London

May 25, 1999




Group profit and loss account
For the year ended March 31, 1999

Graup
£ millien Note 1999 1998
Turnover 2 8,915 8642
Cost of sales 4 (8,296) (7,978}
Cross profit 619 664
Administrative expenses 4 (177} (163)
Qgerating profit 442 504
Share of operating profit in associates 7 62 69
Totat operating profit including associates 504 573
Other income and charges 3 27 19
Profit on sale of fixad assets and investments : 9 51 169
Net interest payable 10 (357) {181)
Profit before caxation 225 580
Taxation 11 (19) {133
Profit after taxation : 206 447
Minority share of [osses after taxation 13
Profic for the year 206 460
Dividends paid and proposed 12 {(191) {176}
Retained profit for the year 32 15 234
Earnings per share 13
Basic earnings per share 19.5p 44.7p
Diluted earnings per share 19.2p 422p
Dividends per share 12 17.9p 16.6p
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Balance sheets
At March 31, 1999
Group Company
£ million Note 1999 1998 1999 1998
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 14
Fleet 8,207 7227 8,108 7.104
Property 1,331 1,181 1,254 1,103
Equipment 301 259 251 222
9,839 8,667 9,613 8429
Investments 17
Subsidiary undertakings 838 835
Associated undertakings 323 321 7 1
Trade investments -68 67 31 31
Investment in own shares 11 11
402 388 937 917
10,241 9055 10,550 9346
~ Current assets
Stocks . 19 84 75 62 55
Debtors 21 1,336 1432 1,168 1,282
Short-term loans and deposits 22¢ 1,051 638 987 610
Cash at bank and in hand 112 50 27 2
2,583 2245 2,244 1,949
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 23 (3,081} (2821) (3.657) {3,284)
Net current liabilities {498) (576} (1413) (1.335)
Total assets less current liabilities 9,743 8478 9,137 8011
Creditors: amounts falling due afcer more than one year
Borrowings and other creditors 24 (6,230) (4,978) (6,165) {4,967}
Convertible Capital Bonds 2005 27 (126) {150
(6,356) (5128) {6,165) {4,967)
Pravisions for liabilities and charges 28 (32) 30 (29} (28)
3,355 3321 2,943 3016
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 30 268 260 268 260
Reserves 32
Share premium account 764 650 764 650
Revaluation reserve 290 294 290 294
Profit and foss account 2,033 2,117 1,621 1,812
3,087 3061 2,675 2,756
3,355 3321 2,943 3016

Lord Marshall of Knightsbridge Chairmon
Robert Ayling Chief Executive www

Derek Stevens Chief Financial Officer
May 25, 1999 Mo A
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Group cash flow statement
For the year ended March 31, 1999

Group
E million MNote 1999 1998
Cash inflow from operating activities Sa 1,241 736
Dividends received from associates 1 12
Returns on invescments and servicing of finance
Interest received 72 71
Interest paid on bank and other loans 95) (119}
Interest paid on finanice leases and hire purchase arrangements (290 {227)
Dividends received from trade investments 4 &
Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance (309} (263)
Taxation
UK Corporation tax (36) (41)
Overseas taxation {4} {a3)
Net cash outflow from taxation (40) (134}
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Tangible fixed assets purchased for cash 14e (1,611) (1,767)
Refund of progress payments 1,274 1431
Sale of tangible fixed assets and investments 230 118
Investment in own shares {11)
Sale of investment in US Airways Group, Inc. 379
Net cash (outflow)/inflow for capital expenditure and financial investment (118} 161
Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings 7]
Purchase of interests in associated undertakings {6)
Sale of interests in associated undertakings 82
Net cash flow for acquisitions and disposals 6} 75
Equity dividends paid (113} {148)
Net cash inflow before management of liquid rescurces and financing 666 433
Management of liquid resources {363} (90}
Financing
Received from minority for subscription in share capital 16
Changes in borrowings 26
Bank and other loans raised 178 475
Bank and other loans repaid (127) {601)
Capital elements of finance leases and hire purchase arrangements repaid (351) {268)
(3009 {394)
Changes in share capital
Issue of ordinary share capitat and share premium received 65 6
Increase/{decrease) in cash 22 63 (29}
Group
£ million Note 1999 1998
Group financing requirement
Net cash inflow before management of liquid resources and financing 666 433
Acquisitions under loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements 14e (1.470) {1,302)
Total financing requirement for the year (304) (869)
Total tangible fixed asset expenditure, net of progress payment refunds 1,807 1,638
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Statement of total recognised gains and losses
For the year ended March 31, 1999

Group
£ million Note 1999 1998
Profit for the year 206 460
Qther recognised gains and losses relating to the year
Exchange and other movements 32a (82) (18}
Total gains and losses recognised since Jast annual report 124 142
Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
For the year ended March 31, 1999

Group
£ million Note 1959 1998
Profit for the year 206 460
Dividends paid and proposed 12 {191} (176)
Retained profit for the year 15 284
Other recognised gains and losses relating to the year (82) {18}
Issue of ordinary share capital, on the conversion of Convertible Capital Bonds 2005,
and on the exercise of options under Employee Share Option Schemes
Share capital 3 9
Share premitm 114 85

122 94

Reduction in reserves resulting from shares issued to a Qualifying Employee Share QOwnership
Trust in relation to the 1993 Share Save Scheme (21}
Movement in goodwill in the year {23)
Net additions to shareholders’ funds 34 337
Shareholders’ funds at April 1 3,321 2,984
Shareholders’ funds at March 31 3,355 3,32t

The difference between reported and historical cost profits and losses is not material.
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Summary statements in euros

Included for information purposes only

Group profit and loss account
For the year ended March 31, 1999

ELIR miltion 1999 1998
Turnover 13,380 12970
Operating expenditure {12,7186) {12.214)
Operating profit 664 756
Share of operating profit in associates 93 104
Other income and charges 41 29
Profit an sale of fixed assets and investments 77 254
Net interest payable (536) (272}
Profit before taxation 339 871
Taxation 29) {200}
Profit after taxation 310 671
Minority share of losses after taxation 20
Profit for the year 3t0 691
Dividends paid and proposed (287) (264)
Retained profit for the year 23 427

Group statement of total recognised gains and losses
For the year ended March 31, 1999

EUR million 1999 1998
Profit for the year 310 691
Other recognised gains and losses relating to the year

Exchange and other movements {124) {27}
Total gains and losses recognised since last annual report 1836 664

Group balance sheet
For the year ended March 31, 1999 !

EUR million 1999 1998
Fixed assets

Tangible assets 14,766 13,007
Investments 603 582

15,369 13,589

Current assets 3,877 3,369
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year {4,624} {4.234)
Net current liabilities (747) (865}
Total assets less current liabilities 14,622 12,724
Creditors: amounts failing due after more than one year {9.539) {7,695)
Provisions for liabilities and charges (48} {45)
5,035 4,984
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 402 390
Reserves 4,633 4594
5,035 4,984
Translation rate £1=euros 1.5008 1.5008

Euro amounts have been included for information only. Results have been translated at the rate of exchange on March 31, 1999,
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Notes to the accounts

1 Accounting policies

Accounting convention

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified by the inclusion of certain assets at valuation, as stated below, and in accordance with
all applicable United Kingdom accounting standards and the Companies Act 1935.

During the year the group implemented the following new accounting standards: FRS9 - Associates and Joint Ventures, FRS10 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets,
FRS11 - Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill, FRS12 — Provisions and Contingencies, FRS13 - Derivatives and other Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and
FRS14 - Earnings per Share. The adoption of the standards did not have a significant effect on the results although a number of minor presentational changes have
been made to the financial statements.

Basis of consolidacion

The group accounts include the accounts of the company and its subsidiary undertakings, each made up to March 31, together with the atmributable share of results and
reserves of associated undertakings, adjusted where appropriate to conform with British Airways accounting policies. The group’s share of the profits less losses of
associated undertakings is included in the group profit and loss account and its share of the post-acquisition results of these companies is included in interests in
associated undertakings in the group balance sheet. Certain associated undertakings make up their annual audited accounts to dates other than March 31. In the case
of Qantas, unaudited published resules up to the year ended December 31 are included; in other cases, results disclosed by subsequent unaudited management accounts
are included. The attributable results of those companies acquired or disposed of during the year are included for the pericds of ownership. On the acquisition of a
business, including an equity interest in an associated undertaking, fair values are attributed to the group’s share of net tangible assets. Up to March 31, 1998, where
the cost of acquisition exceeded the values attributed to such net assets, the resulting goodwill was set off against reserves, Goodwill will be released to the profit and
loss account on disposal of the business to which it relates. Goodwill arising on acquisitions since April t, 1998 is capitalised and amortised over its useful economic
life. In accordance with section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, a separate profit and loss account dealing with the results of the company only is not presented.

Turnover

Passenger ticket and cargo waybill sales, net of discounts, are recorded as current liabilities in the ‘sales in advance of carriage’ account until recognised as revenue
when the transportation service is provided. Commission costs are recognised at the same time as the revenue to which they relate and are charged to cost of sales,
Unused tickets are recognised as revenue on a systematic basis. Other revenue is recognised at the time the service is provided.

Segmental reporting
a Business segments
The directors regard all group activities as relating to the airline business,

b Geographical segments

i} Turnover by destination: The analysis of turnover by destination is based on the following criteria:

Scheduled and non-scheduled services: Turnover from domestic services within the United Kingdom is attributed to the United Kingdom. Turnover from inbound
and outbound services between the United Kingdom and overseas points is attributed to the geographical area in which the relevant overseas point lies.

Other revenue: Revenue from the sale of package holidays is attributed to the geographical area in which the holiday is taken, while revenue from aircraft
maintenance and other miscellaneous services is attributed on the basis of where the customer resides.

i) Turnover by origin: The analysis of turnover by origin is derived by ailocating revenue to the area in which the sale was made. Operating profit resulting from
turnaver generated in each geagraphical area according to origin of sale is not disclosed as it is neither practical nar meaningful to allocate the group's operating
expenditure on this basis.

iy Geographical analysis of net assets: The major revenue-earning asset of the group is the aircraft fleet, the majority of which are registered in the United Kingdom.
Since the group’s aircraft fleets are employed flexibly across its worldwide route network, there is no suitable basis of allocating such assets and related liabilides
o geographical segments.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or valuation as stated below. Depreciation is calculated to write off the ¢ost or valuation, less estimated residual value, on the
straight line basis.

a Capitalisation of interest on progress payments

Interest artributed to progress payments made on account of aircraft and other assets under construction is capitalised and added to the cost of the asset concerned.
Interest capitalised in respect of progress payments on those aircraft which subsequently become subiject to extendible operating lease arrangements is carried forward
and written off over the initial lease peried.

b Fleet

i) Cost or valuation: All aircraft are stated at cost, net of manufacturers’ credits, with the exception of a small number that are stated at March 31, 1988 valuations,
with subsequent expenditure stated at cost. The Concorde fleet remains at nil book value, Aircraft not in current use are included at estimated net realisable value,
Aircraft which are financed in foreign currency, either by loans, finance leases or hire purchase arrangements, are regarded together with the related assets and
liabilities as a separate group of assets and liabilities and accounted for in foreign currency. The amounts in foreign currency are transtated into sterling at rates
ruling at the balance sheet date and the net differences arising from the wanstation of atrcraft costs and related foreign currency loans are taken to reserves. The
cost of all other aircraft is fixed in sterling at rates ruling at the date of purchase.
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1 Accounting policies continued

iiy Depreciation: Fleet assets owned, or held on finance leases or hire purchase arrangernents, are depreciated at rates calculated to write down the cost or valuation to
the estimated residual value at the end of their planned operational lives. Cabin interiors, including those required for brand changes and re-launches, are depreciated
over the lower of five years and the remaining life of the aircraft at the date of such modification. Residual values and operational lives are reviewed annually.

¢ Property and equipment

Freehold properties and certain leasehold properties professionally valued at March 31, 1995 are included in these accounts on the basis of that valuation. Full
property valuations are carried at least every five years. Subsequent additions are included at cost. Provision is made for the depreciation of ali property and
equipment, apart from freehold land, based upon expected usefu! lives and, in the case of leasehold properties, over the duration of the leases, if shorter.

d Legsed and hire purchased assets

Where assets are financed through finance leases or hire purchase arrangements, under which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred (o
the group, the assets are treated as if they had been purchased outright. The amount included in the cost of tangible fixed assets represents the apgregate of the capital
elements payable during the lease or hire purchase term. The corresponding obligation, reduced by the appropriate proportion of lease or hire purchase payments
made, is included in creditors. The amount included in the cost of tangible fixed assets is depreciated on the basis described in the preceding paragraphs and the
interest element of lease or hire purchase payments made is included in interest payable in the profit and loss account. Payments under all other lease arrangements,
known as operating leases, are charged to the profit and loss account in equal annual amounts over the period of the lease, In respect of aircraft, operating lease
arrangements allow the group to terminate the leases after a limited initial pertod, normaily five to seven years, without further materiai financial obligations. In certain
cases the group is entitled 10 extend the initial lease period on pre-determined terms; such leases are described as extendible operating leases.

Ajreraft and engine overhaul expenditure

Aircraft and engine spares acquired on the introduction or expansion of a fleet are carried as tangible fixed assets and generally depreciated in line with the fleet to
which they relate. Replacement spares and all other costs relating to the maintenance and overhaul of aircraft and engines are charged to the profit and loss account
on consumption and as incurred respectively.

Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cash and liquid resources
Cash includes cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand with any qualifying financial institution, less overdrafts from any qualifying financial institution repayable
on demand. Liquid resources includes current asset investments held as readily disposable stares of value.

Pension and ocher post-retirement benefits

Retirement benefits are payable through separately funded United Kingdom pension schemes with equivalent arrangements for overseas territories. Contributions to :
pension funds are made on the basis of independent actuarial advice and charged to the profit and loss account so as to spread the cost over the remaining service

lives of the employees.

Provision is made based on actuarial advice for post-retirement medical benefits of employees in the Linited States.

Frequent flyer programmes

The group operates two principal frequent flyer programmes. The main Airtine schemes are run through the 'Executive Club' and ‘Frequent Traveller programmes
where frequent travellers may accumulate mileage credits which entitle them to a choice of various awards, including free travel. The main United Kingdom scheme
is run under the brand name of ‘Airmiles’ and principally involves the selling of miles of travel to United Kingdom companies to use for promotional incentives.

The incremental direct cost of providing free travel in exchange for redemption of miles earned by members of the group’s Executive Club, Frequent Traveller
programmes and Airmiles scheme is accrued as members of these schemes accumuiate mileage. Costs accrued include incremental passenger service charges and
security, fuel, catering, and lost baggage insurance; these costs are charged to cost of sales,

Deferred taxation
Provisions are made for deferred taxation, using the liabilicy method, on short-term timing differences and all other material timing differences to the extent that it is
probable that the liabilities will crystallise in the foreseeable future.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency balances are transiated into sterling at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date, except for certain loan repayment instalments which are translated
at the forward contract rates where instaiments have been covered forward at the balance sheet date. Aircraft that generate substantial foreign currency revenues are
accounted for as foreign currency assets and are translated into steriing at rates ruling at che balance sheet date. Changes in the sterling vaiue of outstanding foreign
currency loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements which finance certain fixed assets are taken to reserves together with the differences arising on the
translation of the related foreign currency denominated assess. Exchange differences arising on the translation of net assets of overseas subsidiary undertakings and
associated undertakings are taken to reserves. Profits and [osses of such undertakings are translated into sterling at average rates of exchange during the year. All
other profits or losses arising on translation are dealt with through the profit and loss account,
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Notes to the accounts
continued

1 Accounting policies continued

Derivatives and financial instruments

The group’s accounting policy for derivatives is to defer and only recognise in the group profit and loss account gains and losses on hedges of revenues or operating
payment as they crystallise,

Amounts payable or receivable in respect of interest rate swap agreements are recoghised in the net interest payable charge over the period of the contracts on an
accruals basis. Cross currency swap agreements and forward foreign exchange contracts taken out to hedge borrowings are brought into account in establishing the
carrying values of the relevant loans, leases or hire purchase arrangements in the balance sheet. Gains or losses on forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge capital
expenditure commitments are recognised as pary of the rotal sterling carrying cost of the relevant tangible asset as the contracts mature or are closed out.

Short term debtors and creditors are held at fair value and have therefore been excluded from the financial instrument disclosures except note 20 on
curTency exposures.

2  Turnover
Group
£ million 1999 1998
Traffic revenue
Scheduled services - passenger 7485 7233
- freight and mail 562 595
8,047 7828
Nen-scheduled services 62 53
8,109 7.881
Other revenue {including aircraft maintenance, package holidays and other airline services) 806 761
3,915 8,642
3 Geographical analysis of turnover and operating profit
a  Tumover
Group
By area of original sale By area of destination
£ miltion 1999 1998 1999 1998
Europe 5945 5628 3412 3214
United Kingdom 4,047 3817 698 718
Continental Europe 1,898 1811 2,714 2496
The Americas 1,678 1,613 3,281 3073
Africa, Middle East and Indian sub-continent 627 618 1,137 1118
Far East and Australasia 665 783 1,085 1,237
8915 8,642 8915 8,642
b Operating profit
Group

By area of destination

E million 1999 1998
Europe {166} {127)
The Americas 451 395
Africa, Middle East and [ndian sub-continent 124 125
Far East and Australasia 33 111
442 504
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4 Analysis of operating expenditure

Group
E million 1999 1998
Employee costs 2,356 2211
Depreciation 619 551
Aircraft operating lease costs 150 127
Fuel and oil costs 705 790
Engineering and other aircraft costs 644 614
Landing fees and en route charges 736 703
Handling charges, catering and other operating costs 1,278 1,179
Selling costs 1,234 1.217
Accommodation, ground equipment costs and currency differences 751 746
Total operating expentditure 8473 8,138
Total operating expenditure comprises:
Cost of sales 8,296 7.978
Administrative expenses 177 160
Total operating expenditure 3473 8138
5 Operating profit
a Reconciliation of operating profit to cash inflow from operating activittes
Group
£ million 1999 1998
Group operating profit 442 504
Depreciation charges 619 551
Qther items not involving the movement of cash 2t (27)
Decrease/(increase} in stocks and debtors 60 {34)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 99 {258)
Cash inflow from operating activities 1.241 736
b Operating profit is arrived at after charging:
Depreciation of group tangible fixed assets
Group
£ million 1999 1998
Owned assets 301 296
Finance leased aircraft 98 100
Hire purchased aircraft 190 130
Other leasehold interests 30 25
619 551
Operating lease costs
Group
£ million 1999 1998
Lease rentals — aircroft 150 127
~ property 127 15
Hire of equipment and charter of aircraft and crews 203 154
430 396
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Notes to the accounts
continued

5 Operating profit continued
Auditors’ remuneration

Group
£'000 1599 1998
Group auditors - qudit fees 1,157 1,087
- other professional fees - Linited Kingdom 1,321 1,930
- overseas 377 483
QOther ouditors - audit fees 7 62
2,862 3,562
Directors’ emoluments
Group
£000 1959 1998
Fees 513 501
Salary and benefits 776 727
1,289 1.228
The report of the Remuneration Committee discloses full details of directors’ emoluments and can be found on pages 28 to 29.
6 Employee costs and numbers
Group
Number 1999 1998
The average number of persons employed in the group during the year was as follows:
United Kingdom 51,022 48541
COverseas 12,757 12,134
63,779 60,675
Group
£ million 1999 1998
Wages and salaries 1,671 1,587
Employee profit share 16
Social security costs 171 165
Contributions to pension schemes 111 &7
1,953 1.855
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7 Share of operating profit in associates

Group
£ million . 1999 1998
Qperating profits less losses 62 69
8 Other income and charges
Group
E million 1999 1598
Income from trade investments 4 2
US Airways Group, Inc. preferred stock dividend 4
Other 23 13
27 19
Qther income and charges represented by:
Group 26 19
Associates 1
27 19
9 Profit on sale of fixed assets and investments
Group
£ million 1999 1998
Net profit on part disposal of investment in Equant ' 48
Net profit on disposal of investment in US Airways Group, Inc. 129
Net profit on part disposal of investment in Galileo International Inc. 43
Net profit/(loss) on disposal of other fixed assets and investments 3 (5}
51 169
Profit on sale of fixed assets and investments represented by:
Group 51 164
Associates 5
51 169
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Notes to the acccunts
continued

10 Nec interest payable

Group
£ million 1999 1998
Interest payable
On bank leans 59 56
On finance leases 73 83
On hire purchase arrangements 212 141
On other loans, including interest of £13 miltion (1998: £16 million) on Comvertible Capital Bonds 2005 46 64
390 344
Interest capitalised (54) (61}
336 283
Interest receivable (71} 71}
Retranslation charges/(credits) on currency borrowings 92 (31)
357 181
Net interest payable represented by:
GCroup 345 168
Associates 12 13
357 181

In respect of all loans, including finance Jease and hire purchase arrangements repayable in whole or in part after five years, the final repayment date is July 2012, The interest

rates range from 0.9 per cent to 10.9 per cent (March 1998: 0.9 per cent to 10.9 per cent).

11 Taxation

Group
£ million 1999 1998
British Airways Plc and subsidiary undertakings
United Kingdom corporation tax at 31% (1998: 31%) 7 (63}
Overseas 25 79
Irrecoverable advance corporation tax (5) 98
Prior year adjustments 27
114
Share of taxation of associated undertakings 19 19
19 133

The charge for taxation has been affected principally by losses, as adjusted for UK tax purposes, arising from an excess of tax allowances over depreciation mainly

on the acquisition of aircraft. No amounts of advance corporation tax (ACT) have been written off on dividends in respect of the year; these fall under UK tax rules
on dividends paid after April 5, 1999 which no lenger require the payment of ACT. Prior year adjustments arise mainly from increases to the tax losses for the previous

year and the carry back of such losses against profits of previous years.
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11 Taxation continued
If full provision had been made for deferred taxation there would have been a provision for the year of £40 million [1998: release £3 million) comprising:

Group

£ million 1999 1998
Accelerated capital allowances less unrelievéd losses 17 61
Other timing differences 18 34
Advance corporation tax 5 (98)
40 (3}

Any requirement for deferred taxes relating to accelerated capital allowances has been reduced by the value of LIK tax losses carried forward of approximately
£156 million {£521 million at 30 per cent). The need to provide for deferred taxation relating to accelerated capital aflowances is dependent on future rates of tax relief
on aircraft and on the method by which such aircraft are financed. British Airways has agreed with the Inland Revenue that most aircraft acquired under contracts placed
post November 26, 1996 and to 2004 will attract allowances on half the expenditure at 25 per cent reducing balance basis and half the expenditure at 6 per cent
reducing balance basis. Based on this agreement and on future capital expenditure plans it is not expected that there will be a requirement in the foreseeable future to
provide for any deferred taxation on new originating timing differences.

12 Dividends

Group

£ million 1999 1598
Interim dividend of 5.10p per share paid (1998: 4,70p per share) 54 52
Final dividend of 12.80p per share proposed {1998: 11.90p per share) 137 124
191 176

The amounts charged to the profit and lass account include £1 million in relation to 1997-98 final dividends paid to Canvertible Capital Bond holders (1996-37:
£3 million) who converted their bonds in fune 1998, in accordance with the terms of the bonds.

13 Earnings per share

Group

Profit Earnings per share

1999 1998 1999 1998

£m im Pence Pence

Profit for the year and basic earnings per share 206 460 19.5 447
Interest on Convertible Capitat Bonds 9 11

Diluted profit for the year and earnings per share 215 471 19.2 422

Weighted average number of shares for basic earnings per share ('000) 1,054,543 1,030,021

Dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Convertible Capital Bonds (000} 56,116 70944

Qutstanding share options {"000) 10,141 16,166

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share (‘000) 1,120800 1,117,131

Basic earnings per share are calculated on a weighted average of number of ordinary shares as adjusted for shares held for the purposes of employee share ownership
plans including the Long Term Incentive Plan.
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Notes to the accounts
continued

14 Tangible assets

a Group
Group total
£ million Fleet Property Equipment 1999 1998
Caost or valuation
Balance at April 1 10,375 1,330 706 12,411 11,063
Exchange adjustments 60 2 4 66 (74}
Additions - net of refund of progress payments (Note 14¢) 1,588 191 135 1,914 1,781
Disposals #13) {6) {161) {580) {359}
Balance at March 31 11,610 1,517 684 13,811 12411
Depreciation
Balance at April 1 3,148 149 447 3,744 3475
Exchange adjustments 18 1 19 (23}
Charge for the year 509 39 71 619 551
Disposals (272) {2 (136} {410} {259}
Balance ac March 31 3,403 186 383 3,972 3744
Net book amounts
March 31, 1999 8.207 1,331 30 9,839
March 31, 1998 7.227 1,181 259 8,667
Utilisation at March 31
AsSets in current use
Owned 1,978 979 233 3.190 3116
Finance leased 1,282 1,282 1,163
Hire purchase grrangements 4,202 4,202 3,138
Progress payments 706 352 63 1,126 1,250
Assets held for resale 39 39
8,207 1,331 30 9,839 8,667
The net book amount of property comprises:
Freehold 378 376
Long leasehold 412 415
Short leasehold 54 390
1,331 1,181
Net book amount
Valuation/cost Depreciation 1999 1993
Revalued fleet and properties are included in the accounts at the following amounts:
Fleet  —valuation 417 367 50 66
- subseguent additions at cost 108 aQ 18 38
Property — valuation 556 51 505 515
- subsequent additions at cost 50 4 46 40
March 31, 1999 1,13t 512 619
March 31, 1998 1,288 629 659
If these assets had not been revalued they would have been included at the following amounts:
March 31, 1999 772 445 327
March 31, 1998 888 525 363

46 PBritish Airways




14 Tangible assets continued

b Company
Company total
£ million Fleet Property  Equipment 1999 1998
Cost or valuation
Balance ac April 1 10,209 1,236 620 12,065 10,670
Exchange adjustments 51 2 53 (44)
Additions — net of refund of progress payments 1,602 139 114 1,905 1,789
Disposals (400) 6) [151) (557) {346}
Net transfers to subsidiary undertakings {4)
Balance at March 31 11,462 1,421 583 13,466 12,065
Depreciation -
Balance at April 1 3,105 133 398 3,636 3,373
Exchange adjustments 14 14 {9)
Charge for the year 498 36 59 593 523
Disposals (263) {2) {125) {390) {251}
Balance at March 31 3.354 167 332 3,853 3636
Net bock amounts
March 31, 1999 8,108 1,254 251 9,613
March 31, 1998 7,104 1,103 222 8,429
Utilisation at March 31
Assets in current use
Owned 1,926 902 183 3011 2,958
Finance leased 1,235 1,235 1,106
Hire purchase arrangements 4,202 4,202 3138
Progress payments 706 352 68 1,126 1,227
Assets held for resale 38 39
8,108 1,254 251 9,613 8429
The net book amount of property comprises:
Freehold 376 375
Long leasehold 350 353
Short leasehold 528 375
1,254 1103
Net book amount
Yaluation/cost  Depreciarion 1999 1998
Revalued fleet and properties are included in the accounts at the following amounts:
Fleet - valuation 417 367 50 66
- subsequent additions at cost 108 90 18 38
Property - valuation 550 47 503 513
- subsequent additions at cost 49 4 45 38
March 31, 1999 1,124 508 616
March 31, 1998 1,284 629 655
If these assets had not been revalued they would have been included at the following amounts:
March 31, 1999 764 441 323
March 31, 1998 884 525 359
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Notes to the accounts
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14 Tangible assets continued

¢ Revaluacion

All freehold properties of the group, and certain leasehold properties, where leases give long-term security of tenure and rights to development, disposal and sub-
letting, were revalued at open market value for existing use at March 31, 1995,

d Depreciation
Fleets are generally depreciated gver periads ranging fram 16 1o 27 years after making alfowance for estimated residual values. Effective depreciation rates resulting
from this method are shown in the following table:

Group
" 1999 1998
Boeing 747-100, 747-200, 747-400, 777-200 and McDonnell Douglas DC-10-30 42 4.1
Boeing 767-300 and 757-200 4.6 49
Airbus A320, Boeing 737-200, 737400, McDonnelt Douglas MD83, Fokker 100 and F28 59 6.1
Turbo Props 6.5 6.2

Property, apart from freehold land, is depreciated over its expected useful life subject to a maximum of 50 years. Equipment is depreciated over periods ranging from
three to 20 years, according to the type of equipment.

e Analysis of group tangible asset additions

Group toral
£ mitlion Fleat Property  Equipment 1999 1998
Cash paid 1,325 160 126 1,611 1,767
Acquisitions under loans, fingnce leases and hire purchase arrangements 1,470 1,470 1,302
Capitalised interest 37 17 54 61
Accrual movements 30 14 9 53 82
2,862 191 135 3,188 3212
Refund of progress payments (1,274) {1.274) (1,431)
1,588 191 135 1,914 1,781

15 Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure authorised and contracted for but not provided in the accounts amounts to £2,863 million for the group (1998: £2,274 million) and £2,859 million
for the company {1598: £2,203 million).

The outstanding commitments include £78 million which relates to the acquisition of one Boeing 747-400 and two Boeing 757-200 aircraft scheduled for defivery
during the next year and £2,534 million which relates to the acquisition of Boeing 777-200 aircraft scheduled for delivery during the next three years and Airbus
A319 and A320 aircraft scheduled for delivery over the next six years. It is intended that these aircraft will be financed partially by cash holdings and internal cash
flow and partially through external financing, including committed facilities arranged prior to delivery.

At March 31, 1999 British Airways had an unused European Investment Bank fong-term facitity of £100 million (expiring in more than two years} and unused overdraft
and revolving credit facilities of £40 million, and undrawn uncommitted money market lines of £260 million, US$45 million and DM30 million with a number of banks
(all reviewable within one year}.

The group’s holdings of cash and short-term foans and deposits, together with committed funding facilities and net cash flow, are expecied to be sufficient to cover
the cost of all firm aircraft deliveries due in the next two years.
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16 Operating lease commitments

Group Company
£ million 1999 1998 1999 1998
a2 Fleet
The aggregate payments, for which there are commitments under operating
leases as at the end of the year, fall due as follows:
Amounts pavable within one year relate to commitments expiring as follows:
Within one year ‘ 21 15 2 4
Between one and five years 86 102 3 29
Ower five years 35 12 15 4
Within one year 142 129 43 37
Between one and five years 354 324 106 70
QOwver five years 74 34 7 3
570 487 161 112
b Property and equipment
The aggregate payments, for which there are commitments under operating
feases as at the end of the year, fall due as follows:
Amounts payable within one year refate to commitments expiring as follows:
Within one year 19 12 18 1
Between one and five years 24 31 19 25
Over five years 38 46 35 44
Within one year 81 89 72 80
Between one and five years 223 254 206 238
Over five years, ranging up to the year 2145 1,399 1,348 1,371 1337
1,703 1,691 1,649 1,655

Property and equipment commitments relate largely to property leases.
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Notes to the accounts
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17 Investments
a Group
i) Associated undertakings

Group total
£ miilion Equity Loans at cost 1999 1993
Balance at April 1 310 1 N 396
Exchange movements (18} 1 (" (45}
Addicions 22 22 17
Share of attributable results 16 16 12
Share of movements on other reserves (19) 19 8
Disposals 30
Reclassification to trade investments {37}
Batance at March 31 31t 12 323 321
Equity comprises;
Cost of shares 320 298
Goodwill set off (80} (30}
Share of post acquisition profits 79 81
Share of movements on other reserves (8) H
311 210
ii) Trade investments
Cost Provisions Group total
Shares l.oans Shares Loans 1999 1998
Balance at April 1 66 4 2 N 67 288
Exchange movemernts 2 {1 1 4)
Disposals {254)
Reclassification from associated undertakings 37
Balance at March 31 68 4 3 {1} 68 67
iii) Investment in own shares
Group
1999 1998
[nvestment in own shares 11

The investment in own shares consists of shares held by British Airways Employee Benefits Trustees (Jersey) Limited for the purpeses of the employee share ownership
plans including the Long Term Incentive Plan, At March 31, 1999 the company held 3,250,000 shares for the Long Term Incentive Plan, The purchase of shares was

financed by British Airways Plc granting a loan to British Airways Employee Benefits Trustees (Jersey) Limited.

Net book value of total investments

Group total
Associated Trade [m in
undertakings  investments  own shares 1999 1998
Listed 299 66 11 376 364
Unlisted 24 2 26 24
Market value of listed investments

Group total
1999 1938
Associated undertakings 491 281
Trade investments 379 198

Investment in own shares 14

The group’s principal investments in subsidiary undertakings, associated undertakings and trade investments are listed on page 62.
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17 Investments continued
b Company
i} Subsidiary undertakings

Cost Provisions Company total
£ million Shares Loans Shares Loans 1999 1998
Balance at April 1 1,536 {651) 8385 804
Exchange movements ) (3}
Addittons/{reductions) 65 (62) 3 86
Disposals )
Balance at March 31 1,601 (713) 838 885
ii} Associated undertakings
Balance at April 1 H 1 H
Additions & 6
Balance at March 31 7 7 1
iii) Trade investments
Balance at April 1 30 4 {2) (13 31 36
Disposals {5}
Balance at March 31 30 4 (2} m 3 31
iv) Investment in own shares
Company
1999 1938
Investment in own shares 11

The investment in own shares consists of shares held by British Airways Employee Benefits Trustees {Jersey) Limited for the purposes of the employee share ownership
plans including the Long Term Incentive Plan. At March 31, 1999 the company held 3,250,000 shares for the Long Term Incentive Plan. The purchase of shares was
financed by British Airways Plc granting a loan to British Airways Employee Benefits Trustees (Jersey} Limited.

Net book value of total investments

Company total

Subsidiary  Associated Trade Invesmment in
undertakings undertakings  investments  own shares 1999 1998
Listed 29 11 40 28
Unrlisted 3338 7 2 397 889
Market vaiue of listed investments

Company total
1999 1998
‘Trade investments 166 32

Investment in own shares 14
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Notes to the accounts
continued

18 Investments in associates

Summarised financial information

No individual associate accounts for more than 25 per cent of any of the gross assets, gross liabilities, turnover or operating results (on a three year average] of the

group {excluding any amount for associates).

Group
£ million 1999 1998
Qperating revenue 323 807
Share of fixed assets 1,026 969
Share of current assets 194 256
Share of assets 1.220 1,225
Liabilities due within one year (362) {344)
Liabilities due after more than one year (551) {572)
Share of liabilities (913) {416)
Share of net assets at associated companies’ year end accounting dates 307 309
Additional equity investment in Qantas for the period January 1 to March 31 4 1
Total group investment in associated undentakings at March 31 3 310

The sterling equivalents for the statements of operations of Qantas Airways Limited have been translated at the average exchange rates for the year ended June 30,
1998 and six months ended December 31, 1998; those for the balance sheets have been translated at the closing rates ruling at March 31.

19 Stocks

Group Company
£ million 1999 1998 1999 1993
Raw materials, consumables and work in progress 34 75 62 55
The replacement cost of stocks is considered to be not materially different from their balance sheet values.
20 Currency exposures

Net foreign currency assets/(liabilities)
£ million
Met assets/(liabilities} at March 31, 1999 Euro
Functional currency Sterling US dollar currency Japanese Yen Other Toual
Sterling 238 21 (721) (71) (533)
LS dollar 1 {1}
Euro currency {13 {68) {69}

170 21 (721) 72) {602)

Yen liabilities are as a result of the group’s substantial Japanese cross border hire purchase arrangements,

The table above shows the monetary assets and liabilities of the group that are not denominated in the functional (or ‘operating’) currency of the operating unit

involved, other than certain non-sterfing borrowings treated as hedges of aircraft accounted for as foreign curmency assets, and of net investments in overseas

subsidiaries. Amounts aiso take into account the effect of derivatives entered into to manage these currency exposures,
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21 Debtors

Group Company
£ millien 1999 1968 1999 1998
Trade debtors 905 853 342 793
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 17 55
Amounts owed by associated undertakings 22 10 22 10
QOther debtors 152 249 106 187
Prepayments and accrued income 257 320 181 233
1,336 1,432 1,168 1,282
Amounts due after more than one year included above are not significant,
22 Cash
a Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Group
£ million 1999 1998
Increase/{decrease) in cash during the year 68 (29)
Cash outflow from decrease in debt and lease financing 300 394
Cash outflow from liquid resources 363 90
Changes in net debt resulting from cash flows 731 455
New loans and finance leases taken out and hire purchase arrangements made (1,470} (1.302)
Conversion of Convertible Capital Bonds 2005 24 76
Exchange movements (208) 126
Movement in net debt during the year (923) {645)
Net debt at April 1 (4,603) (3,958}
Net debt at March 31 {5,526) (4,603)
b Analysis of net debt
Group
Balance at Other Balance at
£ million April 1 Cash Aow non-cash Exchange March 31
Cash 50 62 112
Overdrafts (17 6 (11)
33 63 101
Short-term loans and deposits 688 363 1,051
Bank and other loans {1.070) (51} (21) (1,142)
Finance leases and hire purchase arrangements {4,104) 351 (1,470) {187) {5410)
Convertible Capital Bonds 2005 (150) 24 (126)
Year to March 31, 1999 (4,603) 731 (1.446) (208} (5.526)
Year ro March 31, 1998 (3,958) 455 {1,226} 126 {4,603}
¢ Analysis of short-term loans and depaosits by currency
Group Company
£ million 1999 1998 1999 1998
Sterling 738 310 690 258
US doilars 124 220 108 194
Other 189 158 189 158
1,051 638 037 610

Surplus cash is deposited for the shori-term for periods typically with maturity of less than six months.
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23 Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

Group Company
£ million 1999 1998 1999 1998
Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements
Bank and other loans 202 74 28 61
Finance leases 0 97 84 90
Hire purchase arrangements 264 185 264 185
Loans from subsidiary undertakings 671 462
557 356 1,047 798
Overdrafts — unsecured 11 17
Trade creditors 1,010 1,600 848 847
Unredeemed frequent Ryer liabilities 70 74 47 47
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 505 437
Amounts owed to associated undertakings 35 2 35 2
Other creditors
Other creditors 394 394 287 290
Corporate taxation 25 65 23 65
Other taxation and social security 63 60 40 34
482 519 350 339
Dividends payable 190 124 190 124
Accruals and deferred income
Sales in advance of carriage 686 671 616 613
Accruals and deferred income 40 58 19 27
726 729 635 640
3,081 2821 3,657 3284
24 Borrowings and other creditors
Giroup Company
£ million 1999 1998 1999 1998
Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements
Bank and other loans 940 996 892 787
Finance legses 1,244 1,049 1,197 992
Hire purchase arrangements 381t 2773 3,811 2773
Leans from subsidiary undertakings 140 322
5,995 4818 6,040 4,874_
QOther creditors o1 56 6
Accruals and deferred income 174 104 125 87
6,230 4,978 6,165 4,967
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25 Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements

a Total loans, finance ieases and hire purchase arrangements

Croup Company
E million 1999 1998 1999 1998
Loans
Bank — French Franc FFr40m FFr77m
- US Dollar US$593m US$613m US$552m LISS577m
—Sterling £509m £400m £478m £361m
882 772 820 705
Euro-sterling notes 100 100 100 100
Other - French Franc FFr50m FFr58m
~ US Dollar US$250m LIS3250m
- Sterfing £43m £43m
160 198 43
Loans from subsidiary undertakings - US Dollar US3$1,065m LiS$1,000m
- Sterling £148m £188m
811 784
Finance leases ~ French Franc FFr107m FFrii9m
-~ US Dollar US$389m LUS$395m LIS$320m Us3307m
- Sterling £1,083m £899m £1,083m £899m
1,335 1,146 1,281 1,082
Hire purchase arrangements - Japanese Yen ¥215,426m ¥163,330m ¥215426m ¥163.330m
- US Dollar us$1,186m US$1,123m LIS$1,186m LiS$1,123m
- Sterling £2,217m £1.557m £2,217m £1,557m
4,075 2958 4,075 2,958
6,552 5174 7,087 5672
Comprising:
Bank loans
Repayable wholly within five years 212 203 150 150
Repayable in whole or in part after five years 670 569 670 355
382 772 820 705
QOther loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements
Repayable wholly within five years 692 510 1,189 949
Repayable in whele or in part after five years 4,978 3,892 5078 4,018
5,670 4402 6,267 4,967
6,552 5174 7,087 5672

Bank and other loans are repayable up to the year 2014. in addition to finance leases and hire purchase arrangements, bank and other loans of the group amounting
to FFr50 million (1998: FFr28 million), US$582 million (1998: US$603 million) and £199 million {1998: £131 million) and bank loans of the company amounting
to US$542 million (1998: LIS$567 miltion} and £199 million (1998: £131 million) are secured on aircraft.

b Analysis by type of borrowing

Group
1999
Fixed rate borrowings

Weighted average period Weighted Floating rate
rate is fixed average rate borrowings Total
years % £m £m Em
Sterling 7.3 8.24 574 3,335 3,909
Us Dollar 4.8 7.69 421 1,080 1,501
Japanese Yen 338 1.52 1,122 1,122
Euro currency 5.0 7.58 1 9 20
7.6 4.59 2,128 4,424 6,552

Floating rates of interest are based on LIBOR (London Interbank Offered Rate) or PIBOR (Paris Interbank Offered Rate).
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Notes to the accounts
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25 Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements continued

¢ Incidence of repayments

. Group
Hire purchase
£ million Bank loans  Other loans Finance leases arrangements 1999 1998
Instalments falling due :
Within one year 42 160 11 264 557 356
After more than one year
Between one and two years 46 90 284 420 481
Berween two and five years 296 328 1,094 1,718 1,337
In five years or more 498 100 826 2,433 3,857 3,000
840 100 1,244 3,811 5,995 4818
Total 1999 882 . 260 1,335 4,075 6,552
Total 1998 772 298 1,146 2958 5174
Analysis of total 1959
British Airways Plc 820 100 1,281 4,075 6,276 4,388
Subsidiary undertakings 62 160 54 276 286
882 260 1,335 4,075 6,552 5174
26 Analysis of changes in borrowings during the year
Finance
leases and
Group
Bank and hire purchase
£ million other loans arrangements 1999 1998
Balance at April 1 1,070 4,104 5174 4,392
New loans raised 178 178 475
Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements undertaken to finance
the acquisition of aircraft 1,470 1,470 1,302 :
Repayment of amounts borrowed {127 {351} (478) (869)
Effect of exchange rate changes 21 187 208 {126)
Balance at .March 3 1,142 5410 6,552 5174
27 Convertible Capital Bonds 2005 Group
£ million ) 1999 1998
126 150

The terms of the 9.75 per cent Convertible Capital Bonds allow the holders to convert into British Airways Plc ordinary shares during the period June 1993 to june
2005 on the basis of one ordinary share for each £2.34 {adjusted for the effect of the 1993 rights issue) of Bonds held. On June 15, 1998, 10,095,979 ordinary shares
were issued in exchange for 23,628,275 Bonds. The terms also provide that on maturity in 2005, the company may require remaining bondholders to convert their
Bonds into ordinary shares of the company which would be sold on their behalf. If the proceeds of such a sale are less than the issue price of the Bonds, the company
has 1o fund any deficit from its own resources. Full conversion of the remaining Bonds would require the issue of 54,014,000 ordinary shares.

The mid-market closing prices of the Bonds and the ordinary shares at March 31, 1999 as quoted in the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List were 187.5p and
429.5p each respectively.
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28 Provisions for liabilicies and charges Group
Transfers from Provisions

Balance at profit and Other applied/ Balance at
£ million April loss account  movements {released) March 31
Pensions and similar obligations 8 1 9
Post-retirement medical benefits 22 1 23
Year to March 31, 1999 30 1 1 32
Year to March 31, 1998 58 2 (1} (29) 30
Analysis of total 1999
British Airways Plc 28 1 29
Subsidiary undertakings 2 1 ) 3
Year to March 31, 1999 30 1 1 32

29 Litigation

a A number of legal claims have been made against the company by Virgin Atlantic Airways Limited. Having regard to legal advice received, and in ail the
circumstances, the directors are of the opinion that these claims will not give rise to liabilities which will in the aggregate have a material effect on these accounts.

b There are a number of identified legal and other claims which emanate from internationai airline operations and other activities of the group for which the directors

have made what they believe is appropriate provision.

30 Share capital

- Group and Company

1999 1998
Number of Number of
shares shares
Ordinary shares of 25p each 000 £ miilion ‘000 £ million
Auchorised
At April 1 1,508,000 377 1,308,000 327
Increase approved by shareholders at AGM on July 15, 1997 200,000 50
At March 31 1,508,000 377 1,508.000 377
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At April 1 1,038,905 260 1,002586 251
Conversion of Convertible Capital Bonds 2005 10,096 3 32,386 8
Exercise of options under Employee Share Option Schemes 22,371 5 2,073 1
Conversion of Scrip dividends 1,795 1,860
At March 31 1,073,167 268 1,038,905 260

31 Share options

Number of shares ‘000

Group and Company

1999 1998

Qutstanding at April 1
Granted in the year
Exercised during the year
Expired/cancelled

45,942 30,993

17,503
Q2371) (2073}
(663) (431)

At March 31

22,908 45,942

Date exercisable
Price per share
Price range of aptions exercised during the year

1998-2005 1998-2005
144p-579p 130p-579p
144p-419p 144p-419p

Share options exercised include those exercised under the 1993 Share Save Scheme which matured on December 1, 1998.
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32 Reserves
a Group
) . Group total
Share premium  Revaluation Profit and
E million account reserve  loss account 1999 19598
Balance ac April 1 650 294 2,117 3,061 2,733
Retained profit for the year 15 15 284
Transfers relating to revalued assets L)) 4
Exchange adjustments net of tax relief and other movements (32) (82) {18}
Net movement on goodwill 23}
Reduction in reserves resylting from shares issued to a Qualifying Employee Share
Ownership Trust in relation to the 1993 Share Save Scheme (see below) (21} 21)
Share premium 114 114 85
Balance at March 3t 764 290 2,033 3,087 3,061
Group profit and loss account includes curnulative retained profits in respect of associated undertakings and is shown in note 17,
b Goodwill
Cumulative goodwill set off against reserves at March 31 comprises:
£ million 1999 1998
In respect of subsidiary undertakings 615 615
In respect of associated undertakings 20 80
In respect of trade investments 7 7
702 702
Com e 1
¢ pany Share premium  Revaluation Profit and ompany o
£ million account reserve  Joss account 1999 1998
Balance at April 1 650 294 1,812 2,756 2,571
Retained {loss)/profit for the year {138} {138) 81
Transfers refating to revalued assets ) 4
Exchange adjustments nect of tax relief and other movements (36) (36) 19
Reducrion tn reserves resulting from shares issued vo a Qualifying Employee Share
Ownership Trust in relation to the 1993 Share Save Scheme (see below) 21) (21)
Share premium 114 114 85
Balance at March 31 764 290 1,621 2,675 2,756

The group has established 2 Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust {'QUEST") for the purposes inter alia of the 1993 Share Save Scheme. During the year,
contributions of £21 million have been made to the QUEST. The QUEST used the funds to subscribe for 19,749,829 new ordinary shares in British Airways Plc,
issued at the market price prevailing on the date of issue. As at March 31, 1999, alf shares issued to the QUEST had been transferred to the option holders exercising

options under the 1993 Share Save Scheme.

33 Deferred taxation (see also Note 11)
There is no provision for deferred taxation at March 31, 1999 (1998: £nil}

IF fult provision for deferred taxation had been made ac 30 per cent (1998: 30 per cent) the following amounts would have been required:

Group Company

£ million 1599 1998 1999 1998
Accelerated capital allowances less unrelieved losses 293 976 980 964
Other timing differences 4 (14} 724 (37
Advance corporation tax (93 {98} (93} {98}
904 864 360 829

In arriving at the amount of the full provision of £904 miilion for the group at March 31, 1999, no account has been taken of any tax liability that might arise on the
realisation of the revaluation surplus on properties as the directors have no present intention to dispose of any significant property assets.
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34 Pension Cos{s

British Airways aperates two principal defined benefit pension schemes in the United Kingdom, the Airways Pension Scheme (APS), which is closed to new members,
and the New Airways Pension Scheme (NAPS) of which all new permanent employees over the age of 18 employed by the company and certain subsidiary
undertakings in the United Kingdom may become members. The assets of these schemes are held in separate trustee-administered funds.

Benefits provided under APS are based on final average pensionable pay and, for the majority of members, are subject to increases in line with the Retail Price Index.
Those pravided under NAPS are based on final average pensionable pay reduced by an amount (the "abatement”) not exceeding one and a half times the Government's
lower earnings limit. NAPS benefits are subject to Retail Price [ndex increases in payment up to 2 maximum of five per cent in any one year.

Most employees engaged outside the Lnited Kingdom are covered by appropriate local arrangements,

Standard employees’ contributions range from 5.75 per cent to 8.5 per cent of full pensionable pay in APS, and from 3.75 per cent to 6.5 per cent of full pensionable
pay less the abatement in NAPS.

The latest actuarial valuations of APS and NAPS were made as at March 31, 1998 by an independent firm of qualified actuaries, Watson Wyatt Partners, using the
attained age method for APS and the projected unit method for NAPS. These valuations showed that no further employers’ contributions were required in respect of
APS while for NAPS an employers’ contribution equal to an average of 2.35 times the standard employees’ contribution for the period December 1, 1998 to March
31, 1999 (2.20 times for April 1, 1997 to November 30, 1998) was appropriate.

Group

£ million 1959 1998
All amounts recognised as costs were either funded or paid directly.
Employers’ contributions (calculated as set out above for APS and NAPS) charged in the accounts were:
Afrways Pensien Scheme
New Airways Pension Scheme 94 71
Other pension schemes and provident funds — mainly outside the United Kingdom 17 Hi

111 87

Included within NAPS pension charge for the year ended March 31, 1999 is £15 million relating to augmentation contributions in respect of retirements in 1998-99.
Augmentation contributions in respect of retirements in 1997-98 were charged against the restructuring provision made in 1996-97.

At the date of the actuarial valuation, the market values of the assets of APS and NAPS amounted to £5,889 million and £2,992 million respectively. The value of
the assets represented 110 per cent {APS) and 100 per cent (NAPS) of the value of the benefits that had accrued to members after allowing for assumed increases in
garnings. In the case of APS, the actuarial value of the assets together with future contributions from employees was sufficient to cover both past and future service
liabilities. in the case of NAPS, the actuarial value of the assets together with future contributions from employees was sufficient to cover past service liabilities and
some future service [fabilities, The employer's contribution is intended to make up the balance of future service liabilities. The principal assumptions used in the
actuarial valuations were that, over the long-term, the annual increase in eamings would be 0.75 per cent higher than annual increases in dividends, The annual return
on investments was assumed to be 2,25 per cent (APS) or 2.5 per cent (NAPS) higher than the onward increase in earnings. Annual pension increases, over the long-
term, were assumed to be 1 per cent less than dividend growth for APS and 1.5 per cent less than dividend growth for NAPS,

Employer contributions in respect of overseas employees have been determined in accordance with best local practice.

35 Forward transactions
The group had ocutstanding forward transactions to hedge foreign currencies and fuel purchases as follows:

In currency Sterling equivalents

1999 1998 1999 1998
Maturing within one year
- to cover future capital commitments in US Dollars US$774m  USS485m £473m £289m
— 1o hedge future currency revenues against LIS Dollars US$27m  US$127m
- to hedge future currency revenues against sterling £62m £65m
- (o hedge future operating payments against UUS Dollars US$66m  LSSI30m £78m
- to hedge future fuel costs in US Dollars US$319m  USH4i5m £194m £247m
~ to hedge future operating payments against steriing £82m
~ to hedge debt in foreign currency US$225m  USS150m £138m £90m
Maturing after ore year
- to cover future capital commitments in US Dollars US$90m  USS170m £54m £101m
- to hedge future currency revenues against sterfing 2m £Im
— to hedge future operating payments against US Dollars £16m
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36 Interest rate arrangements

To reduce interest rate risk, British Airways has entered into single currency interest rate swap arrangemenis so as to change the interest payabie elements of certain
loans and lease obligations from variable to fixed rates and, accordingly, accounts for such swaps as hedges. Qutstanding single currency interest rate swap
arrangements are summarised as follows:

Interest rates
Notional principal balance Termination dates Fixed payable
At March 31, 1999
Us Dollar Uss449m 2000-2003 8.4% - 9.9%
At March 31, 1998
Us Doflar UsS$485m 2000 - 2003 8.4% - 9.9%

At March 31, 1999 British Ajrways had no outstanding cross currency interest rate swaps [1998: £43 million at fixed interest rate payable, 10.2 per cent).

37 Fair values of financial instruments
a Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance the group’s operations

1999 1598
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
£ miition amount value amount value
Cash at bank and int hand and overdrafts 10t 101 33 33
Short-term loans and deposits 1,051 1,051 688 683
Bank and other botrowings {1,042) (1,078) {970) {987)
Finance leases (1,335) (1,345) {1,146) {1,146)
Hire purchase arrangements (4,075) {4,101) {2,958} (2,967}
Euro-sterling notes (100} (136) (100) (129)
Convertible Capital Bonds 2005 {126) 237 (150} {392}
b Derivative financial instruments held tco manage the interest rate and currency profile
1999 1998
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
E million amount value amotnt value
Interest rate swaps {15} {31}
Forward currency transactions 14 10
Fuel derivatives 10 {17}

Included within forward currency transactions are derivative financial instruments held to hedge the currency exposure on expected future sales.

The following methods and assumptions were used by the group it estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments:

Bank and other loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements carrying fixed rates of interest

— the repayments which the group is committed to make have been discounted at the relevant interest rates applicable at March 31, 1999

Euro sterling notes and Convertible Capital Bonds 2005

— quoted market value

Off balance sheet interest rate swaps

- discounted cash flow analysis, to determine the estimated amount the group would receive or pay to terminate the agreements. Discounted cash flow analyses are
based on estimated future interest rates. These have also been used to calculate the hedging disclosures

Off balance sheet forward currency transactions

— difference between marked-to-market value and forward rate

Off balance sheet fuel derivatives

- difference between market value and future commitment vatue

The fair value of all other assets and liabilities is deemed to be equal to their carrying vaiue unless stated otherwise in the relevant note to the accounts.

¢ Hedges

At March 31, 1999 there were unrecognised gains of £26 million and unrecognised fosses of £17 million relating to hedges of future exposures. OFf the unrecognised
gains, £24 million are expected to occur within one year and £2 million after one year, and of the unrecognised losses, £9 million are expected to occur within one year
and £8 miliion after one year.

At March 31, 1998 there were unrecognised gafns of £14 million and unrecognised losses of £52 million. OF the unrecognised gains on hedges, all related to 1998/99
and of the unrecognised losses, £22 million related to 1598/99 and £30 million related to periods in excess of one year.

The fnstruments used to hedge future exposures are interest rate swaps, forward currency contracts and fuel derivatives.
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38 Contingencies

There were contingent liabilities at March 31, 1999 in respect of guarantees and indemnities entered into as part of, and claims arising from, the ordinary course of
business, upon which no material losses are likely to arise.

The group and the company have guaranteed certain borrowings, kiabilities and commitments which at March 31, 1999 amounted to £182 million (1998: £115
million) and £54 1 million (1998: £412 miltion) respectively. For the company these included guarantees given in respect of the Convertible Capital Bonds issued by
a subsidiary undertaking,

39 Related party transactions
The group has had transactions, during the year under review, with related parties, as defined in Financial Reporting Standard 8, Related Party Disclosures, as follows:

Qantas Airways Limited

The group has a 25 per cent eqguity investment in Qantas Airways Limited, and has a ‘Joint Services Agreement’ with the airline which started in November 1995.
The agreement allows the two airlines to co-operate in developing schedules and fares and to share generated revenue benefits for the core ‘Kangaroo’ routes between
Europe and Australia, During the year under review, this agreement has been re-negotiated and has resulted in British Airways having to accrue a net amount payable
to Qantas of £5 million {1998: £20 million}).

In commaon throughout the airline industry, British Airways and Qantas from time to time carry each other's passengers travelling on the other airline's tickets, The
settlement between the two carriers is actioned through the IATA Clearing House, of which both airlines are members. This arrangement is common practice within
the airline industry and is outside the control of the two parties.

As at March 31, 1999, the net trading balance due to Qantas amounted to £15 million {March 31, 1998: amount due from Qantas £10 million).

Jet Trading and Leasing Company (JTLC') and Prop Leasing and Trading Company ('PLTC)

TAT European Airlines has a 35 per cent equity investment in each of JTLC and PLTC, intemational aircraft leasing companies. During the year under review,
TAT European Airines paid FFr126 million to JTLC for the rental of 7 aircraft (1998; FFr132 million) and FFr22 million to PLTC for the rental of 4 aircraft
(1998: FFr21 million). As at March 31, 1999, the trading balances outstanding with JTLC and PLTC were nil (1998: nil) and the financing balances were FFr34 million
for JTLC (1998: FFr34 million) and FFr30 million for PLTC {1998: FFr30 million).

Directors’ and Officers’ loans and transactions

Na loans or credit transactions were outstanding with directars or officers of the campany at the end of the year which need to be disclosed in accordance with the
requirements of Schedule 6 to the Companies Act 1985.

In addition to the above, the group also has transactions with related parties which are conducted in the normal course of airline business. These include the provision
of airline and related services.

40 Post balance sheet event

On May 12, 1999 euro 300 million (£196 million) 6.75 per cent guaranteed Non-voting Cumulative Preferred securities guaranteed by British Airways Plc were issued by
British Airways Finance (Jersey) L.P, in which the general pantner is British Airways Holdings Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of British Airways Plc. The guarantee in
relation to these securities places holders of the securities in an equivalent position to senior preference shareholders of British Airways Plc.

41 Foreign currency translation rates

At March 31 Annual average

1999 1998 1958-99 1997-98

US Doltar 1.6t 1.68 1.66 1.64
Japanese Yen 192 223 215 202
Deutsche Mark 2.94 310 2.9 2490
Australian Dollar 2,56 253 2.68 229
French Franc 9.85 1039 9,72 975
Euro 1.50 n/a n/a n/a

British Airways 61




Principal investments
At March 31, 1999

Subsidiary undertakings

Principal stbsidiary undertakings are wholly-owned except where indicated.

Principal activities

Country of incorporation
and registration
and principal operations

Air Miles Travel Promotions Led *
Bedford Associates Inc.

Britair Acquisition Corp. Inc.

British Airways Capital Led *

(89 per cent of founders’ shares owned)

British Airways (European Operations at Gatwick} Ltd *

British Airways Finance B.V. *

British Airways Holdings Ltd *

British Airways Holidays Lid *

British Airways Maintenance Cardiff Ltd *
British Airways Regional Ltd *

British Airways Travel Shops Lid *
British Asia Airways Ltd *

Deutsche BA Luftfahrigesellschaft mbH
Go Fly Led *

Participations Aéronautiques SA

(84 per cent of equity owned)

(Holding company of TAT European Airlines SA and Air Liberté SA)

Speedbird Insurance Company Ltd *
The Plimsoll Line Ltd *

(Holding company of Brymon Airways Ltd)
Travel Automation Services Ltd *
(Trading as Galileo United Kingdom)

Airline marketing England
Specialist computer reservations software UsAa
Holding company USA
Airline finance Jersey
Airline operations England
Airline finance Netherlands
Airline finance Jersey
Package holidays England
Aircraft maintenance England
Air travel services England
Travel agency England
Air travel services England
Airline operations Germany
Airline operations England
Airline holding company France
Insurance Bermuda
Airline holding company England
Computer reservations systems England

Associated undertakings

Percentage of

Country of incorporation

equity owned Principal activities and principal operations
Concorde International Travel Pty Ltd 50.0 Travel services Australia
Qantas Airways Ltd 250 Airline operations Australia
Trade investments

Percentage of Country of incorporation

equity owned Principal activities and principal eperations
Hogg Robinson plc * 14.1 Travel services England
Sapphire Aircraft Leasing and Trading Ltd * {Note 1) 193 Alrcraft leasing England
Galileo International Inc. 6.7 Computer reservations systems LSA
Equant NV* {Note 2) 1.5 Telecommunications Netherlands

* Owned directly by British Airways Plc

Notes:

1 The group's investment in Sapphire Aircraft Leasing and Trading Limited was disposed of on April 14, 1999. No material sale proceeds or profit or loss arose

on this disposal.

2 Percentage of equity is based on latest audited information.
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United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP) information

US GAAP Accounting Principles
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom which differ in certain respects from those
generally accepted in the United States, The significant differences are described below:

Deferred taxation
British Airways provides for deferred taxation using the lizbility method on all material timing differences to the extent that it is probable that the liablities will
crystallise in the foreseeable future. Under US GAAP deferred taxation is generally provided on a full lfability basis.

Goodwill -

Up to March 31, 1998, under UK GAAP British Airways set off goodwill arising on acquisitions directly against retained earnings. Goodwill arising on acquisitions
since April 1, 1998 is capitalised and amortised over its useful economic life. Under US GAAP, goodwill arising on acquisitions has always been amortised over its
useful life. For the purposes of determining the differences between UK GAAP and US GAAP in relation to goodwill arising prior to March 31, 1998, the expected
useful life of goodwill has been taken to be 40 years.

Property and fleet valuation

Under US GAAP, tangible assets must be stated at cost less accumulated depreciation in the financial statements. The valuation of properties at March 31, 1995 and
fleet at March 31, 1988 incorporated by British Airways in its financial staterents would not, therefore, have been included in financial statements prepared in
accordance with US GAAP and the subsequent charges for depreciation would have been correspondingly lower. When such assets are sold any revaluation surplus
thus realised would be reflected in income.

Purchase accounting

LUnder US GAAP, a deferred tax liability is recognised for the tax effects of differences between the assigned fair values and tax bases of assets acquired, whereas, under UK
GAAP no such liability is recognised. As a result of recognising such a deferred tax liability, the amount of goodwill arising on consotidation increases correspondingly. Under
US GAAP, the deferred tax liability would be amortised over the same period as the assets to which it relates.

Forward exchange contracts

Under US GAAP, the notional gain or [oss arising on the translation of certain outstanding foreign currency forward exchange contracts at each balance sheet date, at the
forward rates of exchange ruling at that date, would have been included in the determination of net income. British Ajrways does not ke account of such notional gains
and losses.

Dividends

Under UK GAAP, dividends are recorded in the financial statements for the period to which the dividend relates. Under LIS GAAP, the Hiability for dividends is recorded in
the financial statements when declared. The proposed final dividend at March 31, 1999 would not, therefore, be included in the financial statements for 1999 prepared in
accordance with LIS GAAP.

Foreign currency translation

Aircraft which are financed in whole or in part in foreign currency, either by loans, finance lease obligations or hire purchase arrangements, are regarded, together with the
related fiabilities, as a separate group of assets and liabilities and accounted for in foreign currency. The amounts in foreign currency are translated into sterling at rates ruling
at the balance sheet date and the differences arising from the translation of aircraft costs and related foreign currency loans are taken to retained earnings. Under US GAAP,
the cost of these aircraft would be fixed in pounds sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the original acquisition, lease or hire purchase and the exchange gain
or loss on the related foreign currency loans would be reflected in income.

Gains on sale and leaseback cransactions

Under UK GAAP, gains arising on sale and leaseback transactions are recognised as part of income to the extent that the sale proceeds do not exceed the fair value of the
assets concerned. Gains arising on the portion of the sale proceeds which exceed the fair value are deferred and amortised over the minimum lease term. Under LIS GAAP,
the total gains, including any realised revaluation gains, would be deferred in full and amortised aver the minimum lease term.

Pension costs

Under US GAAP, the cost of providing pensions is attributed to pericds of service in accordance with the benefit formulae enderlying the pension plans. The resultant
projected benefit obligation is matched against the current value of the underlying plan assets and unrecognised actuariai gains and losses in determining the pension
cast ar credit far the year. The net periodic pension costs for these plans for the vear ended March 31, 1999 amounted to £78 million (1998: £71 million) under UK
GAAP compared with an estimated charge of £54 million (1998: credit of £37 million) under FAS 87 'Employers’ Accounting for Pensions’. The resultant decrease
in operating costs of £24 million (1998: decrease of £108 million), net of related deferred tax of £7 million (1998: £33 million), would increase net income under LS
GAAP by £17 million {1998: increase of £75 million), and would be reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as a reduction in accrued pension costs.

Capitalised operating leases

Under UK GAAP, certain aircraft operating leases have been capitalised and the related liabilities included in finance lease obligations and the resulting assets are being
depreciated over the remaining term of the lease. tnder US GAAP, such leases would be classified as operating leases and neither the capital element nor the associated
liability would be brought onto the balance sheet.

Associated undertakings
Adjustments made in respect of associated undertakings accounted for under UK GAAP to bring them into line with the US GAAP accounting principles are as set
out above.

Trade investments
Under UK GAAP, trade investments are stated at cost less provision for permanent diminution in value, Under US GAAP. trade investments classified as available for
sale are stated at market value and the unrealised gains/losses are accounted for in shareholders’ equity.

Provision for diminetion in value of investment
Under UK GAAP, provisions for diminution in value of investments that are no longer required are to be written back through the profit and loss account. Under US
GAAP, such write-back of provistons is not permitted.

Stock-Based Compensation

FAS 123 ‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation’ encourages a fair value-based method of accounting for employee stock options or similar equity instruments,
but allows continued use of the intrinsic value-based method of accounting as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25 [‘APB 25') ‘Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees'. British Airways has elected to continue under APB 25 and consequently no compensation cost has been required to be accounted for.

The estimated effect of the significant adjustments to net income and to shareholders’ equity which would be required if LIS GAAP were to be applied instead of UK
GAAP are summarised on pages 64 and 65.
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United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP) information

continued

Net Income under US GAAFP

For the year ended March 31, 1999 Group
1999 1998 1999 1998
£ million £ million $ mitlion* 3 million*
Profit for the year as reported in the group profit and loss account 206 460 332 771
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortisation
Goodwill set off in respect of subsidiary undertakings {16} (15} (24) (25)
Goodwill set off in respect of associated undertakings {ty {2) 3) {3}
Fleet 1 {1 2 {2
Finance leased aircraft 56 56 90 94
Property 1 1 2 2
11 39 67 &6
Aircraft operating lease costs (105} (112) (169) (188)
Equity accounting of associated undertakings
Share of results of associated undertakings 9} (23) (15) {39)
Share of taxation of associated undertakings 3 8 5 13
(6} (15) (10) {26)
Interest payable 47 55 76 92
Pension costs 24 108 39 181
Exchange gains/(losses)
Arising on translation of aircraft related loans {74) 54 {119) 91
Relating to revaluation of forward exchange contracts {6) 3 (10) 13
(80) 62 {129) 104
Profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets and investments
Arising on disposal of revaiued aircraft 1 3 2 5
Arising on disposal of revalued propetty (1) (2)
Arising on sale and leaseback transactions (19} 4 (31} 7
Arising on disposal of US Airways Group, Inc. 125 210
{19) 132 (31) 222
Deferred taxation
Effect of the above adjustments 4 (36) 6 {6a)
Effect of differences in methodology (8) (39) (13) (65}
(4) (75) 7} (125)
{102) 194 (164 326
Net income as adjusted to accord with US CAAP 104 654 168 1,097
Net Income
Basic¢ net income as adjusted to accord with US GAAP 104 654 168 1,097
Diluted net income as adjusted to accord with US GAAP 113 665 182 1115
Number of Shares
Basic weighted average number of shares 1,054,543 1030021 1,054,543 1030021
Dituted weighted average number of shares 1,120,800 £117131 1,120800 1,117,131
Pence Pence Cents Cenrs
Net income per ordinary share as so adjusted
Basic 9.9 63.5 159 106.5
Diluted 10.1 595 16.2 998
Net income per American depository share as so adjusted
Basic £0.99 £6.35 $1.59 £10.65
Diluted £1.1 £595 $1.62 $5.98
* LIS$ amounts are included for information only. Transiation rate E1=51.61 £71=5168
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Shareholders’ equity under US GAAP
At March 31, 1999

Crowp
1999 1998 1999 1998
£ million £ million $ miilion* $ miition®
Shareholders’ equity as reported in the group balance sheet 3355 3321 5,406 5569
Adjustments:
Intangible assets
Goodwil! set off in respect of subsidiary undertakings
Cost 621 621 1,001 1,041
Amortisation {123) {112} {206) {137}
493 509 795 854
Tangible assets
Cost
Fleer (1.112) (1,117} (1,792} {1.873)
Property and equipment (308). {367} (496) (515)
(1,420) (1,424) {2,288) {2,388)
Amortisation
Fleer, property and equipment 498 469 802 787
Associated undertakings
Net equity {26) {207 {42) (34}
Goodwill set off in respect of associated undertakings
Cost 80 80 129 134
Amortisation (1) {10 (18} {17)
69 70 111 17
Trade investments 383 135 617 226
Current assets
Debtors 1 7 2 12
Current liabilities
Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements 47 63 76 106
Qther creditors 8 55 13 92
Proposed dividends 137 124 22 208
Pension cost accruals 76 52 122 87
Accruals and deferred income 6 11 10 18
Long-term liabilities
Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements 634 671 1,021 1,125
Accruals and deferred income (16) (26}
Provisions for {{abilities and charges
Deferred taxation
Effect of the above adjustments (143) {103} {230} {172)
Effect of differences in’ methodology (904) (896} (1,457} (1,502)
(1,047) {959; {1,687) {1,674)
(157} (277} {253) (464}
Sharehoiders' equity as adjusted to accord with US GAAP 3,198 3044 5,153 5105
* UIS$ amounts are included for informaticn only. Translation rare £1=31.61 £71=3168
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Five year summaries
For the five years ended March 31, 1999

Group profit and loss account

£ million 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
Turnover 8,915 8,642 8359 7,760 7177
Operating expenditire {3,473) (8,138) (7.813) {7,032) (6,559)
Operating profic 442 504 546 728 618

Share of operating profit in associates 62 69 87 103 115
Other income and charges 27 19 52 )] 1

Provision against investment in US Airways Group, Inc. 125 (125)
Profit/(loss) on sale of fixed assets and investments 51 169 17 16 (23)
Profit on sale of subsidiary undertaking 1@

Net intergst payabie (357) (181) {187) (261} (279}
Prafic before taxation 225 580 644 585 327
Taxation (19) (133) 90) (112) (77)
Profit after taxation 206 447 550 473 250

Minority interests 13 3

Profic for che year 206 450 553 473 250

Dividends (191) {176) {154) (131} {119)
Retained profit for the year 15 284 399 342 13t

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share 19.5p 44.7p 55.7p 4%4p 26.2p
Adjusted earnings per share 19.5p 44.7p 55.9p 49.4p 39.3p
Diluted earnings per share 19.2p 42.2p SLip 44.6p 24.6p
Diluted adjusted earnings per share 19.2p 422p 51.3p 44.6p 36.0p
Dividends per share 17.90p 16.60p 15.05p 13.65p 12.40p

Following the adoption of Financial Reporting Standard 14, diluted eamings per shiare for the relevant prior years have been adjusted accordingly, Adjusted earings per share
for 1995 have been adjusted 1o exclude the provision of £125 million against investment in US Airways Group, Inc. Adjusted eamings per share for 1997 have been adjusted
o axclude the exceptional operating charge of £127 million and the write-back of provision of £125 million against investment in US Airways Group, [nc.

Geographical analysis of group turnover and operating profit

By area of destination

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
Turnover
Europe 3412 3214 3,168 3,109 3,015
The Americas 3,281 3073 2861 2449 . 2,185
Africa, Middle East and Indian sub-continent 1,137 1,118 1,134 1,074 953
far East and Australasia 1,085 1,237 1,196 1,128 1,024

8915 8,642 8,359 7,760 7177

Operating profit
Europe {166) {127) [ 26 2
The Americas 451 395 364 315 245
Africa, Middle East and Indian sub<continent 124 125 157 220 226
Far East and Australasia 33 1t 146 167 145

447 504 673 728 618
Exceptional operating charge for restructuring costs under
the Business Efficiency Programme (127)

442 504 546 728 618
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Group balance sheet

£ million

1999 1998 1997 1956 1995
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 9,839 8,667 7.588 63826 6,163
Investments 402 388 684 531 471
10,241 8,055 8272 7.357 6,634
Current assets 2,583 2245 2,164 2,684 2429
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (3.081) {2,821} (3,160} (2,824} {2,320)
Net current {liabilities)/assets (493) {576} {996) {140) 109
Total assets less current liabilities 9,743 8479 7.276 7217 6,743
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (6,356) {5,128} (4,260} {4,664} {4,596}
Provisions for liabilities and charges (32) (30 (58} (59) {571
Minority interests 26
3355 3321 2984 2494 2,090
Capital and reserves
Called up share capitai 268 260 251 246 239
Reserves 3,087 3061 2733 2254 1,851
3,355 332 2984 2494 2,090
Group cash flow statement
£ miltion 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
Cash inflow from operating activities 1.241 736 1212 1,424 1,108
Dividends received from associates 11 12 44 8 7
Returns on investments and servicing of finance (309 {269} {221} {249) (218)
Taxation {40} {134} {83) {51) g
Capital expenditure and financial investment {118) 161 (944} (659) {451)
Acquisitions and disposals {6) 75 {16} (30)
Equity dividends paid (113} {148} {131} {121) {109)
Cash inflow/{outflow) before management of liquid resources and financing 666 433 {139} 312 316
Management of liquid resources {363) 590 560 (5%) 95
Financing (235) {372) {392} {259) {395)
Increase/(decrease) in cash 68 {29) 29 (6) 16
98/99 14.3 98/99 62,2
97/98 97/98 58.1
96/97 96/97
95/96 95/96
94/95 e BB 94/95

QOperating cashflow/market value
of assets (%)

Net debt/total capital ratio (%}
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Operating and financial statistics (Note 1)
For the five years ended March 31, 1999

Mainline scheduled services (Note 2)

1999 1398 1997 1996 1995
Traffic and capacity
Revenue passenger km (RPK}) m 118,310 106,739 102304 96,163 87395
Available seat km [(ASK)} m 167,265 149,659 139,789 130,286 122,063
Passenger load factor % 70.7 713 732 738 71.6
Cargo tonne km (CTK) m 4,277 4,181 3,790 3476 3349
Total revenue tonne km {RTK) m 16,075 14818 14,004 13,084 11,667
Total available tonne km (ATK) m 23,982 21410 19,907 18,508 17,115
Overall load factor Y% 67.0 69.2 703 707 68.2
Passengers carried 000 37,090 34377 33440 32272 30,552
Tonnes of cargo carried 000 855 816 721 672 666
Frequent flyer RPKs as a percentage of total RPKs (Note 3) % 23 22 20 1.9 1.7
Financial
Passenger revenue per RPK 5.91 6.38 6.47 6.39 636
Cargo revenue per CTK p 12.86 14.02 14.78 16.20 1547
" Average fuel price (US cents/US gallon) 48.66 64.70 75.90 63.16 5979
Y o Operations
Unduplicated route km 000 686 769 759 767 743
Punctuality — within 15 minutes % 79 80 82 82 34
Regularity % 992 980 992 991 99.5
98/99 855 93/99
97/98 97/98
96/97 96/97
95/9%6 95/96
94/95 94/95

Tonnes of cargo carried {000) Passenger load factor (%)
Mainline Mainling
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Total group operacions

(including Deutsche BA, Air Liberté and go) {Note 4) 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
Traffic and capacity

Revenue passenger km (RPK) m 125,951 113,045 106,059 98,424 95.690
Available seat km (ASK} m 178,820 159,921 146,182 134,911 133277
Total revenue tonne km (RTK} m 16,831 15406 14.336 13311 12,380
Total avaitable tonne km (ATK} m 25,114 22403 20542 18,982 18,224
Passengers carried ‘000 45,049 40,955 38,180 36,003 35,643
Revenue aircraft km m 669 640 579 567 556
Revenue flights 000 439 420 399 381 381
Break-even overall load Factor % 63.4 64.4 63.6 62.9 615
Firnancial

Operating cash flow/market value of assets % 143 157 17.7 17.2 155
Interest cover times 1.7 45 45 36 25
Dividend cover times 1.1 26 3.6 36 21
Operating margin % 5.0 58 8.1 24 86
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation

and rentals (EBITDAR) (Note 5} m 1,427 1385 1,541 1,508 1427
Net debe/total capical ratio % 62.2 58.1 57.0 598 63.9
Total traffic revenue per RTK p 43.18 5116 53.07 5321 5276
Total traffic revenue per ATK p 32.29 3518 37.04 37.31 3584
Net operating expenditure per RTK p 45.55 4788 4837 47.74 47.77
Net operating expenditure per ATK P 30.53 3293 3376 3348 3245
Operations

Average manpower equivalent (MPE) 64,051 60,770 59218 56,720 54,958
RTKs per MPE ‘000 2623 2535 242.1 2347 2253
ATKs per MPE ‘000 392.4 3687 3469 3347 3316
Aircraft in service at year end 335 330 308 293 283
Aircraft utilisation [average hours per aircraft per day} &n 848 846 828 820

MNotes:

1 Operating statistics do not include those of associated undertaking {(Qantas Airways) and franchisees (BASE (Holland), British Mediterranean Airways, British
Regional Ajrlines, CityFlyer Express, Comair (South Africa), GB Airways, MAERSK Air, Loganair, and Sun-Air (Scandinavia)).

2 Mainline scheduled services include those operated by British Airways Plc, British Airways {European Operations at Gatwick]} Ltd and Brymon Airways Lid.
The carriage of passengers on Frequent Flyer Programmes is evaluated on a ticket by ticket basis.

Group operating and financial statistics for the year ended March 31, 1997 included Air Liberté since its acquisition by the group in January 1997 and excluded

the exceptional operating charge of £127 million. Group statistics for the year ended March 31, 1995 included chanter services operated by Caledonian Airways.

S Excludes profit/{loss) on fixed assets and investments. In 1995 the provision of £125 million against the investment in US Airways Group tnc. has been excluded.

In 1997 the exceptional operating charge of £127 million and the write-back of provision of £125 million against the investment in US Airways Group Inc. have

been excluded.

98/99 T 254
97/98 R 0

95/96 NN 984 TG 1349
94/95 "N 957 S 1333

Available seat km (ASK) |
Revenue passenger km (RPK) H
{billions) Group

Y 1595
TN RUINEEE RN

98/99
97/98
96/97
95/96

94/95

Net operating expenditure per ATK
“(pence)
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Aircraft fleet

MNumber in service with group companies at March 31, 1999

On balance Operating leases 1998-99 Average Average
sheet off balance sheet Total Future revenue hours per age
aircraft Extendible Other {Note 2) deliveries Options  hours lown  aircraft/day [years)
Mainline {Note 1 and 7}
Concorde 7 7 5889 230 223
Boeing 747-100 3 1 9 50,047 10.96 26.0
Boeing 747-200 13 3 16 7,770 12.29 18.4
Boeing 747-400 (Note 6} 53 53 1 238,380 13.59 52
Boeing 777 22 22 23 16 78,522 1133 T 15
McDonnell Douglas DC-10-30 13,986 7.56
Boeing 767-300 28 28 86,671 8.71 6.6
Boeing 757-200 47 3 1 51 2 132,420 7143 111
Airbus A319 (Note 5) 39 129
Airbus A3Z20 10 10 20 24,242 6.64 10.2
Boeing 737-200 9 12 21 53,680 5.96 16.6
Boeing 737-300 8 8 15922 7.38 0.9
Boeing 737-400 22 12 34 93,252 7.51 7.0
Turbo Props (Note 3} 2 17 19 47,069 5.85 9.0
Hired aircraft : ‘ 14,245
Sub total 221 6 51 278 85 145 926,095 899 9.4
Deutsche BA, Air Liberté and go
McDonnell Douglas DC-10-30 3 3 12,790 11.68 246
McDonnell Douglas MD83 3 7 10 23,941 7.29 7.2
Boeing 737-300 25 25 5 72,321 8.33 34
Fokker 100 4 7 11 30,333 7.55 - 7.4 i
Fokker F28 4 4 7,992 5.47 240
Turbo Props {Note 4) 2 2 4 23,260 531 80
Sub toral 13 7 37 57 5 170,637 7.45 11.0
Group total 234 13 88 335 a0 145 1,096,732 8.7 9.1

j
!
%

Notes:

t includes those operated by British Airways Plc, British Airways (European Operations at Gatwick) Ltd and Brymon Airways Ltd. )
2 Excludes 4 ATR 725, § ATR 425 and 2 Embraer subleased to other carriers. i
3 Includes 2 de Havilland Canada DHC-7-100s and 17 de Havilland Canada DHC-8s. :
4 Includes 2 ATR 72s and 2 ATR 42s.

5 Options include reserved delivery positions and, if taken, may be A319, A320 or A321.

6 Excludes 3 aircraft delivered but not yet in service.

7 Excludes 7 McDonnell Douglas DC-10-30s, 2 Boeing 737-200s and 1 BAe ATP stood down pending disposal or return o lessor.
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Shareholder information

Shareholders
As at May 14, 1999 there were 256,647 shareholders (May 15, 1998: 229,329). An analysis is given below.

Percentage of Percentage Percentage of Percentage
Size of shareholding shareholders of shares Classification of shareholding shareholders of shares
1-1,000 35.46 6.52 Individuals 94.56 12.68
1,001 - 5,000 13.08 5.59 Bank or Nominee 4.36 80.69
5,001 - 10,000 0.78 131 Insurance companies 0.09 1.11
10,001 - 50,000 0.38 1.99 Pension trusts 0.02 0.90
50,001 - 100,000 0.08 1.46 Investment truses 0.09 0.13
100,001 ~ 250,000 0.09 378 Other corporate bodies 0.88 4.49
250,001 - 500,000 0.05 4.23
500,001 750,000 0.02 293
750,001 - 1,000,000 0.01 216
Qver 1,000,000 0.05 69.98

100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00

Mercury Asset Management, Schroder Investment Management Ltd, Franklin Resources Inc. and Delaware Investment Advisers Inc. have non-beneficial interests in
3.94 per cent, 5.28 per cent, 6.33 per cent and 4.01 per cent of the shares of the company respectively.
British Airways is not aware of any interest in its shares of 10 per cent or more nor of any other interest of 3 per cent or more.

General Information
Financial calendar

Fipancial year end March 31, 1999

Annual General Meeting july 13, 1999

Announcement of 1999 — 2000 results and dividends

First quarter results to June 30, 1999 August 1999

Second quarter results to September 30, 1999 November 1939

Interim dividend ‘ November 1999 {payable January 2000)
Third quarter results to December 31, 1999 February 2000

Preliminary announcement mid May 2000

Report and Accounts June 2000

Final dividend May 2000 (payable July 2000)

Registered office
Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB.
Registered number - 1777777

Qutside advisers
Company Registrars: Computershare Services PLC, PO Box 82, Caxton House, Redcliffe Way, Bristol, BS99 7NH.
ADR Depasitary: Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, 60 Wall Street, New York, NY 10260,

Unsolicited mail .

British Airways is obliged by law to make its share register avaifable on request to other organisations who may then use it as a mailing list. This may result in you
receiving unsolicited mail. If you wish to limit the receipt of unsolicited mail you may do so by writing to the Mailing Preference Service, an independent organisation
whose services are free to you. Gnce your name and address have been added to its records, it will advise the companies and other bodies which support the service
that you no longer wish 1o receive unsolicited maik.

if you would like more details please write to: The Mailing Preference Service, FREEPOST 22, London W1E 7EZ.

British Airways asks organisations which obtain its register to support this service.

ShareGift
Shareholders with small numbers of shares may like to consider donating their shares to charity under ShareGift, administered by The Orr Mackintosh Foundation.
Derails are available from the Company Registrars.

Smail sharehoidings

Alternatively, British Airways offers a small shareholding disposai Facility through Barclays Stockbrokers Ltd free of charge for shareholdings valued at less than £100
at the date of sale and at a cost of £5 for sharehoidings valued at £101-£400.

For details contact Barclays Stockbrokers on 0345 777400.
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Glossary

Mainline
Available seat kitometres (ASK)

Available tonne kilometres (ATK)

Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK)
Cargo tonne Kilometres {CTK)
Revenue tonne kilometres {(RTK)
Load factor

Passenger load factor

Overall load facter

Break-even load factor

Frequent flyer RPKs as a percentage of total RPKs

Revenue per RPK

Total traffic revenue per RTK

Total traffic revenue per ATK

Punctuality

Regularity

Unduplicated route kilomecres

Operating cash flow/Market value of assets
Interest cover

Dividend cover

QOperating margin

Net debt

Total capital
Net debc/total capital ratio
Manpower equivalent

EBITDAR
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This includes British Airways Pk, British Airways {European Operations at Gatwick) Ltd and Brymon Airways Ltd.
The number of seats avaitable for sale multiplied by the distance flown.

The number of tonnes (2,240 |b) of capacity available for the carriage of revenue load (passenger and cargo)
multiplied by the distance flown.

The number of revenue passengers carried multiplied by the distance flown.

The number of revenue tonnes of cargo (freight and mail) carried multiplied by the distance flown.
The revenue load in tonnes multiplied by the distance flown.

The percentage relationship of revenue load carried to capacity available.

RPK expressed as a percentage of ASK.

RTK expressed as a percentage of ATK.

The load factor required to equate total traffic revenue with operating costs.

The amount of frequent flyer RPKs expressed as a percentage of total RPKs is indicative of the proportion of
total passenger traffic that is represented by redemption of frequent flyer points in the year.

Passenger revenue from mainline scheduled operations divided by mainfine scheduled RPK.

Revenue from total traffic {scheduled and non-scheduled) divided by RTK.

Revenue from total traffic {scheduled and non-scheduled} divided by ATK.

The industry’s standard, measured as the percentage of flights departing within 15 minutes of schedule.
The percentage of flights completed to flights scheduled, excluding flights cancelled for commercial reasons.

Al scheduled flight stages counted once, regardless of frequency or direction.

Group operating profit plus depreciation, less rentals for aircraft and property, divided by market value of assets.
The number of times profit before taxation and net interest payable covers the net interest payable.

The number of times profit for the year covers the dividends paid and proposed.

Operating profit as a percentage of turnover.

Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements, plus Convertible Capital Bonds 2005, net of short-
term foans and deposits and cash less overdrafts,

Capital and reserves plus net debt.
Net debt as a ratic of total capital.
Number of employees adjusted for part-time workers and overtime.

Eamings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and rentals.




